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Capital Strategic Investment Limited

FINANCIAL REVIEW
REVIEW OF THE RESULTS FOR THE YEAR END 31ST MARCH, 2006

Total revenue
Profit of the Group for the year before adoption of new HKFRSs
Profit of the Group for the year under new HKFRSs

2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

371,638
119,211
141,339

373,332
71,409
181,158

The Group reported a turnover of approximately HK$371.6 million for the year ended 31st March, 2006, which
was mainly generated from rental income of approximately HK$34.3 million, sale of properties of approximately
HK$162.4 million, sale of securities of approximately HK$170.4 million and dividend income from securities
held for trading of approximately HK$4.5 million.
The Group recorded a profit of approximately HK$119.2 million for the year ended 31st March, 2006 before the
adoption of the new HKFRSs, represented an increase of 67% compared to a profit of approximately HK$71.4
million in last year. As a result of the adoption of the new HKFRSs, the profits of the Group for year ended 31st
March, 2006 and 31st March, 2005 have been adjusted to approximately HK$141.3 million and HK$181.2 million
respectively.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
The Group maintained a healthy liquid position which included highly liquid investment in securities of
approximately HK$113 million and cash of approximately HK$380.6 million. The Group generally financed its
operations through its internal resources and bank facilities provided by its principal bankers.
As at 31st March, 2006, the Group had net current assets of approximately HK$501.9 million (31st March, 2005:
HK$379.4 million) and a current ratio of 3.76 (31st March, 2005: 2.86).
The Group’s short-term bank borrowing has been changed from approximately HK$158.6 million as at 31st
March, 2005 to approximately HK$158.8 million as at 31st March, 2006, and long-term bank borrowing has
been decreased from approximately HK$376.4 million as at 31st March, 2005 to approximately HK$155.2 million
as at 31st March, 2006. All the bank borrowings were utilized in financing the Group’s investment properties in
generating recurring rental income. As a result, the Group’s total bank borrowings has been decreased from
approximately HK$535 million as at 31st March, 2005 to approximately HK$314 million as at 31st March, 2006,
and the total debts to total assets ratio was decreased to 25.2% (31st March, 2005: 43.3%). All bank borrowings
were denominated in HK dollars and were on a floating rate basis at either bank prime rate lending rates or
short-term inter-bank offer rates. The maturity profile spread over a period of 10 years with approximately
HK$158.8 million repayable within one year, HK$61.9 million repayable between one to five years, and HK$93.3
million over five years.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE
The majority of the Group’s assets and liabilities were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and US dollars. As
such, the fluctuation of foreign currencies did not have a significant impact on the performance, results and
operation of the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Corporate guarantee given by the Group for banking facilities
granted to an associate

2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

36,176

—

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
At 31st March, 2006, the following assets were pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group:
(a)

Investment properties with a carrying value of HK$622,000,000 (2005: HK$818,000,000).

(b)

Property, plant and equipment with a carrying value of approximately HK$1,760,000 (2005: Nil).

(c)

Prepaid lease payments with a carrying value of approximately HK$239,726,000 (2005: Nil).

(d)

Properties held for sale with carrying value of approximately HK$92,890,000 (2005: HK$227,009,000).

(e)

Bank deposits of HK$165,366,000 (2005: HK$5,230,000).

The Group also executed assignments of rental income and sales proceeds on disposal of investment properties
and properties held for sale to banks to secure the banking facilities granted to the Group.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition of property,
plant and equipment contracted for but not provided
in the financial statements
Capital expenditure in respect of acquisition of subsidiary
contracted for but not provided in the financial statements
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2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

1,527

—

—

205,000

1,527

205,000

Chairman’s
Statement

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), I am pleased to present the annual report of Capital Strategic
Investment Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the financial year ended
31st March, 2006.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
We are pleased to report another year of value creation and growth for our fellow shareholders. Building on our
management’s strengths in making timely strategic investments, unlocking their hidden potentials, and realizing
their resulting gains, we have, for the third consecutive year, achieved an increase in net profit. For the period
under review, the Group’s net profit increased by approximately 67% compared to the same period last year,
being an increase from approximately HK$71.4 million to HK$119.2 million when applying the same accounting
policies and standards before the adoption of the new HKFRSs.
During this period, we have continued to benefit from the favorable local property market, and amongst other
successful dealings, we have disposed of Fullcorp Centre, Tsimshatsui, Hong Kong, the entire 31st Floor of
Bank of America Tower, Central, Hong Kong, and the prime development site in Yiu Wa Street, Causeway Bay,
Hong Kong, as well as various other strategic investments in securities and financial instruments, including our
entire investment in Capital Estate Limited (HKSE Code: 193), in each case so as to timely unlock the resulting
capital gains and to better concentrate our internal resources for future growth.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
We continue to believe that, with the growing influx of tourists from the mainland PRC and the increase in
spending powers of the younger and middle class sectors of the local population, demand for prime spaces in
urban retail hubs form businesses tailored to the life-style of these customers, ranging from health and beauty
services, food and beverages, to bars and karaokes, will continue to grow. We also believe that, with the
growing influx of overseas capital, primarily from real estate funds led by world-class investment banks, targeting
high-value en-bloc local landmark properties, the growth in both market liquidity and value of these landmarks
will continue to out-perform the already highly competitive mid-value property sectors.
As such, in capturing opportunities from these growing demands for both “life-style” and high-value landmark
properties, we intend to continue our focus on renovation, refurbishment and selective re-positioning of tenant
mix of the various urban hub en-bloc properties within the Group’s existing portfolio (including the 3 en-bloc
properties situated in the center of the retail hub of Tsimshatsui, Kowloon which the Group has recently agreed
to acquire, namely Nos. 23-25 Ashley Road, No. 27 Ashley Road, and No. 8 Hau Fook Street), so as to reposition
them into urban “life-style” centers and to un-lock their rental improvement potentials. We also intend to
appropriately expand, when the opportunities arise, the Group’s existing property investment portfolio to include
further urban en-bloc properties, as well as high-value local landmark buildings in addition to the recently
acquired majority position of the entire AXA Centre, Gloucester Road, Hong Kong.
In addition to local property investments, we have also been actively seeking out and evaluating numerous
potential prime real estate and other strategic investment opportunities in the PRC as well as throughout other
parts of the South-East Asia region. However, during the period under review no such potential strategic
investments have met the Group’s stringent investment criteria. Nonetheless, we continue to believe in the
regional growth potential and intend to expand our property portfolio to include prime urban real estates in
major PRC cities such as Beijing and Shanghai where we believe we could successfully repeat our repositioning
model and improve rental returns in light of the similar growth in businesses tailored to the latest life-style of
the local PRC customers.
In May 2005, our solid track record, as well as our investment and asset management skills, received recognitions
from some of the most reputable deal-makers in the region, namely Mr. Richard Li Tzar Kai (the Chairman of
PCCW Limited (amongst other offices)) and ITC Corporation Limited, who collectively subscribed for
approximately HK$106.5 million new shares in the Company and became our strategic shareholders. In December
2005, we were also proudly entrusted by the world-class investment bank, Lehman Brothers, as our partner in
the joint acquisition of Paul Y. Center in Kwun Tong, Kowloon, with the task of managing this joint venture.
Since then, we have been honoured to receive yet further recognitions from other world-class financial institutions
who have participated in the Company’s three separate fund raising exercises, together which a total of HK$743.25
million was raised by the Company, and we are now proud to have the Stark Investments group, Lehman
Brothers Commercial Corporation Asia Limited, JP Morgan Securities Limited and PMA Capital Management
Limited as our strategic shareholders, in addition to Mr. Richard Li and ITC Corporation Limited.
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Capital Strategic Investment Limited

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
Looking back on this year, we have again achieved considerable progress in laying yet more solid foundation
for future growth. As a niche player focused on improving property rental returns, repositioning urban en-bloc
properties into “life-style” centers, and acquiring high-value local landmark buildings, we are very well positioned
to benefit from the growing opportunities in these sectors. We are also optimistic that, with the recognitions
and backings from our world-class strategic shareholders and partners, future ventures with other world-class
leading institutions in larger scale strategic investments, where competition is less fierce and potential returns
more lucrative, will follow in due course. As such, and against the backbone of steady growth in the regional
economy, our future prospects are very encouraging, and we will continue to use our strengths in creating
further value and higher growth for our shareholders.

APPRECIATION
I would like to express my sincere appreciation for the valuable efforts of our Directors, our management and
employees who have contributed to the performance of the Group for the year. Finally, I would also like to
thank our shareholders, business associates and bankers for their continued support over the years.

Chung Cho Yee, Mico
NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN
Hong Kong, 29th July, 2006
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
The Company is obliged to comply with the requirements for continuing listing on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and is committed to practice high standard of corporate governance in
its daily management and operations. The Company follows and applies the principles of the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the “Corporate Governance Code”) in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) in the year under review, except for those mentioned
below.
The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) acknowledged in this Corporate Governance Report that
it is its responsibility for preparing the accounts for the year ended 31st March, 2006 together with the relevant
notes. In this Corporate Governance Report, significant matters were discussed with appropriate cross-reference
to relevant parts in this annual report.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board has 1 non-executive chairman, 2 executive directors and 3 independent non-executive directors
(“INED”). Biographies of all current directors are set out on pages 14 to 15 of this annual report. All directors
pay sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company. Every member of the Board is fully aware of his
responsibilities as a director of the Company under the applicable laws and regulations. Non-executive directors
provide their skills and expertise and serve different board committees of the Company. The Company provides
appropriate cover on directors and officers liabilities insurance and the latest policy was renewed in May 2006.
Bye-laws 102 (A) and 102 (B) are amended by a special resolution passed on 25th August, 2005 to the effect
that all directors are subject to rotation at least once every three years. No specific term is imposed on the nonexecutive directors who are required to retire in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company. New directors
filing up casual vacancy are subject to election in the next following general meeting.
The Company does not have the position of CEO. The Board is chaired by the non-executive director and the
daily management and operations of the Company is taken care by the executive directors and senior
management of the Company. The roles of chairman was adopted on 21st July, 2005
The Board has resolved to meet regularly 4 times a year. The Board met on 21st July, 28th October, and 20th
December, 2005 and 28th March, 2006 and the attendance of each director is set out below:—
Name of Director
Chung Cho Yee, Mico
Ma Wai Man, Catherine
Chow Hou Man
Wong Sin Just
Lam Lee G.
Cheng Yuk Wo
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Number of Attendance
4/4
4/4
4/4
1/4
3/4
4/4

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
In addition to the above regular board meetings, there were various casual meetings and telephone conversations
between non-executive directors and executive directors from time to time to discuss the businesses and overall
direction of the Company.
Draft board minutes were circulated to all directors for comments after the meetings. The original board minutes
are kept by the Company Secretary for inspection of the directors.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Company has 4 board committees to oversee the businesses and corporate governance. All minutes are
circulated to committee members and full records are kept by the Company Secretary.
Remuneration Committee, which comprises majority of INED, was established on 21st July, 2005. Its written
terms of reference, which deal clearly with its authority and duties for a formal and transparent procedure to fix
the remuneration package for all directors, were adopted on 21st July, 2005. The remuneration paid to the
directors for the year ended 31st March, 2006 was set out in page 54. The Remuneration Committee met on
28th March, 2006.
Audit Committee was established pursuant to the board meeting held on 2nd June, 1999 with its terms of
reference adopted on the same day and revised on 21st July, 2005. The Audit Committee met on 20th July,
25th August, and 20th December, 2005.

Non-executive directors
Chung Cho Yee, Mico
Wong Sin Just
Lam Lee G.
Cheng Yuk Wo

No. of Attendance
Audit Committee

No. of Attendance
Remuneration Committee

N/A
2/3
2/3
3/3

1/1
N/A
1/1
1/1

A General Executive Board Committee comprised of the executive directors was formed with terms of reference
on 21st June, 2005. In addition, 4 executive board committees, with delegated power for specific purposes,
were established in the year under review pursuant to board resolutions.
For the purpose of giving independent advice to independent shareholders of the Company for transactions
contemplated during the year, 1 independent board committee comprised of only independent non-executive
directors of the Company was formed.
The members of the above committees had full access to board minutes, records, materials as well as the
management and staff of the Company. The Company provides full supports to the above committees and
arranges for professional advisors to give incidental advice whenever necessary.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
DIRECTORS’ DEALING IN SHARES OF THE COMPANY
The Company adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules relating to dealings in securities. Memorandum was sent to directors
twice a year to draw their attention to the Model Code. The Company made specific enquiries to each director
and had received their written confirmation of full compliance with the Model Code for the year ended 31st
March, 2006.

AUDIT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu was appointed as the auditors of the Company in the annual general meeting held
on 25th August, 2005. The Audit Committee with the mandate given by the shareholders on the general meeting
fixed the audit fee of HK$680,000 for the financial year of 2006 (page 52 of this annual report). The Company
also consults Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu on taxation issues during the year and paid a fee of HK$90,000.
The Board acknowledged that it has the overall responsibility of the internal control system to enhance the
awareness of risk management and assets protection. The internal control system is designed to provide
reasonable policies and procedures to manage business risk and to avoid misstatement of the performance of
the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”). The Company has a clear defined organisation chart by functions,
an effective filing system to maintain proper records for accounting and business transactions, well established
procedures in approving payments and safeguarding the appropriate use of assets. The Group Legal Counsel
of the Company also acts as the head of compliance to ensure the Group’s compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. The Company reviews its internal control system annually with the Audit Committee thereafter,
taking effective actions on recommendation, if any, to improve its system.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS, GENERAL MEETINGS AND VOTING BY
POLL
All company announcements, circulars and notice of general meetings include an update list of directors with
their designation. In the year under review, the Company had issued 12 announcements in the newspapers and
5 circulars, convened 1 special general meeting and 1 annual general meeting.
All company circulars relating to general meetings contains specific paragraph with reference to Bye-laws to
clearly draw the attention of shareholders to procedures and their rights in demanding a poll vote. The chairman
of general meetings provided extracts from Company’s Bye-laws relating to voting procedures and the Chairman
drew the attention of the shareholders to their rights to vote at the beginning of all meetings. With the assistance
of the share registrar of the Company, all voting results are counted and recorded clearly. The results and the
number of votes (for and against) were announced by the Chairman in the meeting and published in the
newspapers on the following day.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The directors present their annual report and the audited financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31st March, 2006.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its principal subsidiaries, associates and
jointly-controlled entities are set out in notes 48, 23 and 22 respectively to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
Details of the Group’s results for the year are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 22.
The directors recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK$15,273,000 representing HK1.7 cents per
share (2005: HK 3.5 cents), payable to shareholders of the Company whose names are on the register of members
on 29th August, 2006.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
During the year, the Group acquired an investment property at a consideration of approximately HK$36,000,000
and disposed of an investment property with a carrying value of approximately HK$296,000,000 for a
consideration of HK$296,000,000.
The Group revalued all of its investment properties at the balance sheet date. The increase in fair value of
investment properties, which amounted to HK$100,000,000, has been credited directly to the consolidated
income statement.
Details of these and other movements in the investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in
note 16 to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
During the year, the Group incurred expenditure of approximately HK$3,261,000 on the acquisition of property,
plant and equipment.
Details of these and other movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are
set out in note 17 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 35 to the
financial statements.

BORROWINGS
Details of bank and other borrowings of the Group are set out in note 34 to the financial statements. No interest
was capitalised by the Group during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed surplus account of the Company is
available for distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out
of contributed surplus if:
(a)

it is, or would after payment be, unable to pay it liabilities as they become due; or

(b)

the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued
share capital and share premium.

In the opinion of the directors, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at 31st
March, 2006 including contributed surplus and accumulated profits amounted to HK$404,399,000 (31st March,
2005: HK$421,421,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The aggregate sale during the year attributable to the Group’s five largest customers was less than 30% of the
Group’s total sales.
The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to the Group’s five largest supplies was less than 30% of
the Group’s total purchases.

SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES
During the year, the Group acquired 100% interests in Yieldson Development Limited (“Yieldson”) and Fook
Shing Limited (“Fook Shing”) for an aggregate consideration of approximately HK$240,000,000. The major
asset of Yieldson and Fook Shing is a long-term leasehold land in Hong Kong.
During the year, the Group disposed of its entire interests in Rapid Growth Profits Limited, Metrorich Worldwide
Limited and Island Town Limited for a consideration of approximately HK$39,000,000. The major asset of these
subsidiaries is a property held for sale.
In May 2005, the Group disposed of its entire interest in Capital Estate Limited (a company whose shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“HKSE”)), a 21.13% associate of the
Group as at 31st March, 2005 for a consideration of approximately HK$40,414,000 and no interest of Capital
Estate Limited was held by the Group as at 31st March, 2006.
On 23rd November, 2005, the Group and High Focus Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Paul Y. Engineering
Group Limited whose shares are listed on the Main Board of HKSE, entered into an agreement (“Favor Win
Agreement”) for the establishment of Favor Win Limited (“Favor Win”) as a jointly-controlled entity. Favor Win
and Lehman Brothers (a special purpose vehicle established by Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc., a global
investment bank listed on New York Stock Exchange) then entered into an agreement (“Gain Resources
Agreement”) for the establishment of Gain Resources Limited (“Gain Resources”) as a jointly-controlled entity.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES (Continued)
Gain Resources entered into sale and purchase agreement with the seller (“Seller”, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of PYI Corporation Limited whose shares are listed on HKSE) on the same day for the acquisition of the entire
issued share capital of Linkport Holdings Limited (“Linkport”) and an outstanding loan owing by Linkport and/
or its subsidiaries to the Seller on completion for an aggregate consideration of HK$780 million (“Acquisition”).
Linkport is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries are holding the properties known as Paul Y.
Centre, located in Kowloon, Hong Kong (the “Properties”). The consideration of HK$780 million was financed
by (i) HK$117 million by way of issuance of a promissory note by subsidiaries of Linkport, being the registered
owners of the Properties; (ii) HK$546 million by non-recourse bank loan; and (iii) HK$117 million by shareholders’
loan. Following the establishment of Favor Win and Gain Resources and completion of the Acquisition, the
Group held a 25% effective interests in Linkport as at 31st March, 2006.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Non-executive director:
Mr. Chung Cho Yee, Mico

(redesignated as Non-executive Chairman on 29th June, 2005)

Executive directors:
Ms. Ma Wai Man, Catherine
Mr. Chow Hou Man
Dato’ Choo Yeow Ming

(appointed on 29th June, 2005)
(resigned on 29th June, 2005)

Independent non-executive directors:
Dr. Lam Lee G.
Dato’ Wong Sin Just
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo
Mr. Liu Yeau-Hwan, Pete

(retired on 25th August, 2005)

Pursuant to Bye-law 99(A) of the Bye-Laws, Ms. Ma Wai Man, Catherine and Dato’ Wong Sin Just shall retire by
rotation. All retiring directors, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the Annual General Meeting.
The directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting do not have any service
contract which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).
The term of office of each non-executive director is the period up to the retirement by rotation in accordance
with the Company’s bye-laws.

Annual Report 2006

13

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
BRIEF DETAILS IN RESPECT OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT STAFF
Directors
Mr. Chung Cho Yee, Mico, aged 45, Non-Executive Chairman, Non-Executive Director and a substantial
shareholder of the Company, joined the Group in 2004, graduated from the University College, University of
London, England, with a law degree in 1983. He qualified as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 1986. Mr. Chung is
currently holding directorships in E2-Capital (Holdings) Limited, Pacific Century Insurance Holdings Limited,
PCCW Limited and Hong Kong Construction (Holdings) Limited, all being companies listed on HKSE. He is also
a director of JALECO Ltd., a company listed on Jasdaq Securities Exchange Inc.
Ms. Ma Wai Man, Catherine, aged 40, Executive Director and Company Secretary of the Company, joined the
Group in 2001. Ms. Ma, a graduate of the City University of Hong Kong, is a chartered secretary and a fellow of
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Ms. Ma has extensive management experience in companies with diversified interests ranging
from manufacturing, telecommunications to infrastructure and property investments. She has also held executive
directorship in a number of companies listed on local and overseas stock exchanges before joining the Company.
Mr. Chow Hou Man, aged 35, Executive Director, Chief Financial Officer and Qualified Accountant of the
Company, joined the Group in 2001. Mr. Chow graduated from the Baptist University and holds a MBA degree
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He has over 10 years of financial experience in various companies
listed in Hong Kong and overseas and an international firm of certified public accountants. He is a member of
both Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Dr. Lam Lee G., aged 46, joined the Company as an Independent Non-Executive Director in 2001. He holds a
Bachelor of Science in Mathematics and Sciences, a Master of Science in Systems Science, and a Master of
Business Administration, all from the University of Ottawa, Canada, a Post-graduate Diploma in English and
Hong Kong Law from Manchester Metropolitan University, U.K., a Post-graduate Diploma in Public Administration
from Carlton University, Canada, and a Doctor of Philosophy from the University of Hong Kong. Dr. Lam has
over 23 years of banking, and direct investment experience. He is President & CEO, and Vice Chairman of the
Board of Chia Tai Enterprises International Limited, senior Executive Vice President of Chia Tai Group (CP
Group), a Member of the Board of TRUE Corporation PLC, and Vice Chairman of Shanghai Kinghill Ltd. A
Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors, Dr. Lam has served on the board of a number of publicly-listed
and privately-held companies.
Dato’ Wong Sin Just, aged 40, Independent Non-Executive Director, joined the Group in 2001. Mr. Wong
possesses over 10 years of investment banking experience having held positions with a number of premier
international investment banks. Mr. Wong is currently the executive co-chairman of E2-Capital (Holdings) Limited.
Prior to establishing E2-Capital (Holdings) Limited, Mr. Wong was the Managing Director and the Head of
Equity Capital Markets at BNP Prime Peregrine Securities Limited. Mr. Wong holds a Bachelor Degree in
Engineering (First Class Honours) from the Imperial College of Science, Technology and Medicine, University of
London and was qualified with the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Mr. Wong is also
an Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of Softbank Investment International (Strategic) Limited
and an Independent Non-executive Director of hongkong.com Corporation.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
BRIEF DETAILS IN RESPECT OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT STAFF
(Continued)

Directors (Continued)
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo, aged 45, Independent Non-Executive Director, joined the Group in 2002. Mr. Cheng is a
fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, and a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario, Canada. Mr. Cheng
worked at Coopers and Lybrand in London and with Swiss Bank Corporation in Toronto. He has held senior
management positions in a number of Hong Kong listed companies and is a co-founder of a Hong Kong merchant
banking firm. He is an independent non-executive director of several listed companies and the proprietor of a
certified public accountant practice in Hong Kong. Mr. Cheng holds a M.Sc.(Econ) degree and a B.A. (Hon)
degree.

Senior Management Staff
Mr. Mak Wing Lung, aged 52, Director (Group Property Division) of CSI Property Holdings Limited, joined the
Group in 2006, is the overall in charge of the property projects of the Group. Mr. Mak graduated from the
University of Reading, England in 1982 and qualified as a Chartered Surveyor in 1985. He also has over 30 years
experience in managing sizable property portfolio in Hong Kong. Before joining the Group, Mr. Mak had held
significant position in Hong Kong listed companies and international property management and investment
firms.
Mr. Wong Chung Kwong, aged 55, General Manger (Group Property Division) of CSI Property Holdings Limited,
joined the Group in 2004, is responsible for all property related investments of the Group. Mr. Wong has been
working in the local and mainland real estate markets for 30 years and has solid experience in properties
related projects such as leasing, sale and marketing, tenders and property management. Before joint he Group,
Mr. Wong had worked in property development and management companies in Mainland China and Hong
Kong.
Mr. Ho Lok Fai, aged 45, Head of Marketing and Leasing (Group Property Division) of CSI Property Holdings
Limited, joined the Group in 2005, is responsible for the sale and leasing of all properties of the Group. Mr. Ho
possesses more than 15 years experience in the office and commercial property market in Hong Kong and is
specialized in analyzing market data and trend. Mr. Ho had worked in several property agency companies
before joining the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES
Save as disclosed in sections headed “Substantial Shareholders” and “Share Option Schemes”, as at 31st
March, 2006, none of the Company’s directors nor their associates had any interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations, within the meaning
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) and as recorded in the register kept by the Company under
Section 352 of the Securities Future Ordinance or as otherwise notified to the Company and HKSE pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
Particulars of the Company’s share option schemes are set out in note 36 to the financial statements.
The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share options during the year:

Option
scheme
type

Exercise
price
HK$

Number of
options
outstanding at
1.4.2005

Reclassification

Exercised
during
the year
(Note 3)

Number of
Lapsed
options
during outstanding at
the year
31.3.2006

Directors
Ma Wai Man, Catherine

2001
2002 (Note 1)

0.672
0.560

7,875,000
3,125,000

—
—

(800,000 )
—

—
—

7,075,000
3,125,000

Chow Hou Man (Note 2)

2001
2002 (Note 1)

0.672
0.560

—
—

1,137,500
3,125,000

(300,000 )
—

—
—

837,500
3,125,000

11,000,000

4,262,500

(1,100,000 )

—

14,162,500

17,057,500
18,375,000
7,500,000
3,750,000

(1,137,500 )
(3,125,000 )
—
—

(4,135,000 )
—
—
—

(622,500 )
—
—
—

11,162,500
15,250,000
7,500,000
3,750,000

Total for employees and
consultants

46,682,500

(4,262,500 )

(4,135,000 )

(622,500 )

37,662,500

Grand total

57,682,500

(5,235,000 )

(622,500 )

51,825,000

Total for directors
Employees and consultants
2001 (Note 2)
2002 (Notes 1 and 2)
2002
2002
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0.672
0.560
0.560
0.600

—

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)
Notes:
(1)

There is a limit on the number of share options under the 2002 Share Option Scheme that may be exercised by each
grantee during each period of 12 months commencing from 23rd September, 2002 (until 22nd September, 2006),
namely, the aggregate of (a) 20% of the total number of such share options granted and (b) any unused limits
accumulated during previous period(s), subject to the written consent of the chairman of the Company to the exercise
of share options exceeding such limit.

(2)

Mr. Chow Hou Man was appointed as a director of the Company on 29th June, 2005 and his holding of share options
was reclassified under the category of directors upon the appointment.

(3)

The closing prices of the Company’s shares at the dates of exercise by the directors and employees were HK$1.30
and HK$1.60 per share respectively.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Save as disclosed above and in notes 35 and 36 to the financial statements, at no time during the year, was the
Company or its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTOR’S INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
Save as disclosed in note 35 to the financial statements, no contracts of significance to which the Company or
its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
As at 31st March, 2006, the register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO shows that as at 31st March, 2006 the following shareholders had notified the Company of their
relevant interests in the issued share capital of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)
Long position

18

Number
of shares

Approximate
shareholding
percentage

Name

Capacity

Long position/
short position

Chung Cho Yee, Mico

Beneficial owner (Note 1)

Long position

187,407,250

32.05%

Earnest Equity Limited

Interest of controlled
corporation (Note 2)

Long position

186,987,250

31.98%

Deutsche Bank
Aktiengesellschaft

Security interest

Long position

43,748,000

7.48%

Stark Investments (Hong
Kong) Limited

Beneficial owner

Long position

50,000,000

8.55%

PMA Capital Management
Limited

Beneficial owner

Long position

45,404,000

7.76%

Chan Kwok Keung, Charles

Interest of controlled
corporation (Note 3)

Long position

43,744,000

7.48%

Chinaview International
Limited

Interest of controlled
corporation (Note 3)

Long position

43,744,000

7.48%

Galaxyway Investments
Limited

Interest of controlled
corporation (Note 3)

Long position

43,744,000

7.48%

ITC Corporation Limited

Interest of controlled
corporation (Note 3)

Long position

43,744,000

7.48%

ITC Investment Holdings
Limited

Interest of controlled
corporation (Note 3)

Long position

43,744,000

7.48%

New Oval Holdings Limited

Beneficial owner (Note 3)

Long position

43,744,000

7.48%

Ng Yuen Lan, Macy

Family interest (Note 3)

Long position

43,744,000

7.48%

Diversified Asian
Strategies Fund

Beneficial owner (Note 4)

Long position

28,432,000

4.86%

Eisner Investments Limited

Beneficial owner (Note 5)

Long position

30,000,000

5.13%

Li Tzar Kai, Richard

Interest of controlled
corporation (Note 5)

Long position

30,000,000

5.13%

Capital Strategic Investment Limited

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)
Long position (Continued)
1.

Being the aggregate of personal interest of Mr. Chung Cho Yee, Mico (“Mr. Chung”) of 420,000 shares and the
corporate interest held by Earnest Equity Limited (“Earnest Equity”) of 186,987,250 shares.

2.

Earnest Equity, the entire issued share capital of which is held by Digisino Assets Limited (“Digisino”), as trustee of a
discretionary trust founded by Mr. Chung, who together with his spouse and children are the current discretionary
beneficiaries. Further, the entire issued share capital of Digisino is held by Mr. Chung and that both Digisino and
Earnest Equity are corporations wholly owned and controlled by him.

3.

New Oval Holdings Limited, a company that held 43,744,000 shares in the Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
ITC Investment Holdings Limited (“ITC Investment”), which was, in turn a wholly-owned subsidiary of ITC Corporation
Limited (“ITC”), Galaxyway Investments Limited (“Galaxyway”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Chinaview International
Limited (“Chinaview”), owned approximately 34.79% of the issued ordinary share capital of ITC. Dr. Chan Kwok
Keung, Charles (“Dr. Chan”) owned the entire issued share capital of Chinaview, Dr. Chan, Chinaview, Galaxyway, ITC
and ITC Investment were deemed to be interested in the said 43,744,000 shares in the Company. Ms. Ng Yuen Lan,
Macy, the spouse of Dr. Chan, was deemed to be interested in the said 43,744,000 shares in the Company.

4.

Diversified Asian Strategies Fund is a fund managed by PMA Capital Management Limited.

5.

Eisner Investments Limited, a company that held 30,000,000 shares in the Company and is wholly and beneficially
owned by Mr. Li Tzar Kai, Richard (“Mr. Li”). Mr. Li was deemed to be interested in the 30,000,000 shares in the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any other relevant interests or short positions
in the issued share capital as at 31st March, 2006.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive directors, an annual confirmation of
his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing Securities on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”). The Company considers all of the independent non-executive directors
are independent.

EMOLUMENT POLICY
The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the board of directors on the basis of their
merit, qualifications and competence with reference to the prevailing market terms. In addition to salaries,
discretionary bonuses may be rewarded to employees after assessment of the performance of the Group and
the individual employee.
The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the Remuneration Committee having regard
to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.
The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to directors and eligible employees, details
of the scheme is set out in note 36 to the financial statements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SHARES
During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company is obliged to comply with the requirements for continuing listing on HKSE and is committed to
practice high standard of corporate governance in its daily management and operations. The Company follows
and applies the principles of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
in the year under review with exception of few deviations. Detailed information on the Company’s corporate
governance practices is set out in the Corporate Governance Report contained in pages 8 to 10 of this Annual
Report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended 31st March, 2006.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
Details of the significant post balance sheet events are set out in note 47 to the financial statements.

AUDITORS
A resolution will be submitted to the Annual General Meeting of the Company to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu as auditors of the Company.
On behalf of the Board

CHUNG CHO YEE, MICO
NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN
29th July, 2006
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AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF CAPITAL STRATEGIC INVESTMENT LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Capital Strategic Investment Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) from pages 22 to 84 which have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements which
give a true and fair view. In preparing consolidated financial statements which give a true and fair view it is
fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently.
It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion based on our audit, on those consolidated financial
statements and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

BASIS OF OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the
significant estimates and judgments made by the directors in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of the Group, consistently
applied and adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance as to whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. In forming our opinion we also evaluated
the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the consolidated financial statements. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

OPINION
In our opinion the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
as at 31st March, 2006 and of the profit and cash flows of the Group for the year then ended and have been
properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
29th July, 2006
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH, 2006

NOTES

Turnover
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Unrealised fair value adjustment of investments
in securities held for trading
Other income
Administrative expenses
Other expenses
Finance costs
Amortisation of goodwill of interests in associates
Release of negative goodwill of associates to income
Increase in fair value of investment properties
Share of results of jointly-controlled entities
Share of results of associates
Gain on disposal of interests in subsidiaries
Gain (loss) on disposal of interest in associates

371,638
(331,812)

2005
HK$’000
(restated)
373,332
(313,102)

39,826
12,386

60,230
(5,229)

12,600
(28,723)
—
(18,010)
—
—
100,000
291
362
35,990
4,763

5,173
(23,740)
(526)
(5,361)
(359)
350
146,554
—
3,165
36,070
(3,587)

159,485
(18,146)

212,740
(31,582)

Profit for the year

141,339

181,158

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Minority interests

140,283
1,056

181,521
(363)

141,339

181,158

Profit before taxation
Taxation

8
9
10

37

11
12

Dividends

14

15,273

16,959

Earnings per share
Basic

15

32.20 cents

47.33 cents

15

30.15 cents

45.98 cents

Diluted

22

6

2006
HK$’000

Capital Strategic Investment Limited

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AT 31ST MARCH, 2006

Non-Current Assets
Investment properties
Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid lease payments
Deposit paid for acquisition of subsidiaries
Investments in securities
Club debentures
Interests in jointly-controlled entities
Interests in associates
Deferred tax asset

Current Assets
Trade and other receivables
Prepaid lease payments
Deposit held in stakeholders
Investments in securities
Investments in securities held for trading
Available-for-sale investments
Properties held for sale
Amount due from an investee
Amount due from a jointly-controlled entity
Amounts due from associates
Taxation recoverable
Pledged bank deposits
Bank balances and cash

Current Liabilities
Accruals and other payables
Taxation payable
Amounts due to minority shareholders
Bank borrowings — due within one year

Net Current Assets

NOTES

2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000
(restated)

16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

658,555
15,059
254,690
—
—
6,860
291
96
1,470

818,000
15,080
15,620
35,000
9,891
6,860
—
30,119
609

937,021

931,179

4,881
655
27,730
—
104,155
8,815
104,928
11,069
31,836
8,102
1,250
165,366
215,218

5,562
380
4,531
128,407
—
—
227,009
—
—
—
919
5,230
211,199

684,005

583,237

15,231
4,222
3,875
158,805

41,304
3,906
—
158,610

182,133

203,820

501,872

379,417

1,438,893

1,310,596

25
18
26
20
20
20
27
28
29
30
31
31

32
33
34
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AT 31ST MARCH, 2006

2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000
(restated)

23,391
1,187,697

15,382
842,228

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Minority interests

1,211,088
1,056

857,610
—

Total Equity

1,212,144

857,610

155,243
—
71,506

376,430
13,016
63,540

226,749

452,986

1,438,893

1,310,596

NOTES

Capital and Reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Non-Current Liabilities
Bank borrowings — due after one year
Amounts due to minority shareholders
Deferred tax liability

35

34
24

The financial statements on pages 22 to 84 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors
on 29th July, 2006 and are signed on its behalf by:

Ma Wai Man, Catherine
DIRECTOR
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Chow Hou Man
DIRECTOR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31st March, 2006

Share
capital
HK$’000
At 31st March, 2004
as originally stated
— Effect of changes
in accounting policies
(Note 3)

Attributable to equity holders of the parent
Investment
property
Share Contributed revaluation Accumulated
premium
surplus
reserve
profits
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000

15,338

23,225

276,058

—

—

—

15,338

23,225

276,058

Profit for the year and total recognised
income for the year

—

—

Capital contribution
by minority shareholders

—

Exercise of share options

Total
HK$’000

Minority
interest
HK$’000

Total
equity
HK$’000

214,503

184,131

713,255

—

713,255

(214,503 )

176,603

(37,900 )

—

(37,900 )

—

360,734

675,355

—

675,355

—

—

181,521

181,521

(363 )

181,158

—

—

—

—

—

363

363

44

690

—

—

—

734

—

734

At 31st March, 2005
— Effect of changes
in accounting policies
(Note 3)

15,382

23,915

276,058

—

542,255

857,610

—

857,610

—

—

—

—

8,110

8,110

—

8,110

At 1st April, 2005 as restated

15,382

23,915

276,058

—

550,365

865,720

—

865,720

—

—

—

—

140,283

140,283

1,056

141,339

7,800
209
—
—

214,150
3,308
(3,423 )
—

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
(16,959 )

221,950
3,517
(3,423 )
(16,959 )

23,391

237,950

276,058

—

673,689

At 31st March, 2004 as restated

Profit for the year and total
recognised income for the year
Issue of shares
Exercise of share option
Expenses related to issue of shares
Dividend paid
At 31st March, 2006

1,211,088

—
—
—
—
1,056

221,950
3,517
(3,423 )
(16,959 )
1,212,144

The contributed surplus of the Group represented the amount arising from capital reorganisation carried out by
the Company during the year ended 31st March, 2003.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended 31st March, 2006

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Dividend income
Finance costs
Interest income
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Release of prepaid lease payments
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Increase in fair value of investment properties
Changes in fair value of investment in securities
Allowance for other receivables
Amortisation and impairment loss of goodwill of subsidiaries
Amortisation of goodwill of interests in associates
Release of negative goodwill of associates to income
Share of results of jointly-controlled entities
Share of results of associates
Gain on disposal of interests in subsidiaries
(Gain) loss on disposal of interest in associates

2005
HK$’000
(restated)

159,485

212,740

(52)
18,010
(8,475)
3,282
655
(440)
(100,000)
—
530
—
—
—
(291)
(362)
(35,990)
(4,763)

(618)
5,361
(1,555)
1,482
—
(781)
(146,554)
5,189
—
78
359
(350)
—
(3,165)
(36,070)
3,587

Operating cash flow before movements in working capital
Decrease (increase) in investments in securities held for
trading/investments in securities
Decrease in trade and other receivables
(Increase) decrease in deposit held in stakeholders
Decrease (increase) in properties held for sale
(Decrease) increase in accruals and other payables

31,589

39,703

25,328
12
(23,199)
25,071
(25,379)

(18,613)
11,285
1,276
(184,783)
31,070

Net cash generated from (used in) operations
Interest paid
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid

33,422
(18,010)
(10,657)

(120,062)
(5,361)
(3,718)

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATIONS
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2006
HK$’000

Capital Strategic Investment Limited

4,755

(129,141)

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended 31st March, 2006

2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000
(restated)

8,475

1,555

23

52
40,414

618
—

37

39,046

152,013

NOTES

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received
Dividend received from investments in securities
held for trading/investment in securities
Proceeds from disposal of associates
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries
(net of cash and cash equivalents disposed of)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant
and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Increase in pledged bank deposits
Deposits paid for acquisition of subsidiaries
Purchase of investment properties
Purchase of subsidiaries
(net of cash and cash equivalents acquired)
Increase in amounts due from associates
Increase in amount due from an investee
Increase in amount due from a jointly-controlled entity
Investments in associates
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New bank borrowings raised
Proceeds from issue of shares, net of issue expenses
(Repayment to) advance from minority shareholders
Dividends paid
Repayment of bank borrowings
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

38

440
296,000
(3,261)
(160,136)
—
(36,555)

5,380
—
(12,825)
(11)
(35,000)
(233,446)

(205,000)
(5,162)
(11,069)
(31,836)
(96)

3
(36,673)
—
—
(4,659)

(68,688)

(163,045)

233,300
222,044
(9,141)
(16,959)
(361,162)

394,470
734
13,379
—
(33,620)

68,082

374,963

4,149

82,777

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

211,069

128,292

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE
END OF THE YEAR

215,218

211,069

ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank balances and cash
Bank overdrafts

215,218
—

211,199
(130)

215,218

211,069

INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March, 2006

1.

GENERAL
The Company is a public limited company incorporated in Bermuda with its shares listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“HKSE”). The address of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the section headed “Corporate Information” in the annual
report.
The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is same as the functional currency of
the Company.
The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its principal subsidiaries, associates
and jointly-controlled entities are set out in note 48, 23 and 22 respectively.

2.

APPLICATION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS/
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, a number of new Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations (“INT”)
(hereinafter collectively referred to as “new HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) that are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1st January,
2005. The application of the new HKFRSs has resulted in a change in the presentation of the consolidated
income statement, consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statement of changes in equity. In
particular, the presentation of minority interests have been changed. The changes in presentation have
been applied retrospectively. The adoption of the new HKFRSs has also resulted in changes to the Group’s
accounting policies in the following areas that have an effect on how the results for the current or prior
accounting periods are prepared and presented:

Business combinations
HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” is effective for business combinations for which the agreement date
is on or after 1st January, 2005. On 1 April, 2005, the Group has applied the relevant transitional provision
in HKFRS 3 for those goodwill and negative goodwill arising from business combination prior to 1st
January, 2005, the related principal effects of the transitional provisions in HKFRS 3 to the Group are
summarised below:

Goodwill
In previous years, goodwill arising on acquisitions for the period between 1st April, 2001 and 31st
December, 2004 was capitalised and amortised over its estimated useful life. The Group did not have
any goodwill arising from acquisition on or after 1st January, 2005.
With respect to goodwill arising on the acquisition of associates which were previously capitalised on the
balance sheet, the Group has discontinued amortising such goodwill from 1st April, 2005 onwards and
goodwill will be tested for impairment at least annually or in the financial year in which the acquisition
takes place. As a result of this change in accounting policy, no amortisation of goodwill has been charged
in the current year. Comparative figures for 2005 are not required to be restated (see note 3 for the
financial impact).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March, 2006

2.

APPLICATION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS/
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)
Goodwill (Continued)
Excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over cost (previously known as “negative goodwill”)
In accordance with HKFRS 3, any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of acquiree’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition (“discount on acquisition”) is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the acquisition takes place. Prior to 31st
March, 2005, negative goodwill arising on acquisitions was presented as a deduction from assets and
released to income based on an analysis of the circumstances from which the balance was resulted. In
accordance with the relevant transitional provisions in HKFRS 3, the Group derecognised all negative
goodwill of HK$8,110,000 on 1st April, 2005 which was previously presented as a deduction from interests
in associates, with a corresponding increase to accumulated profits as at 1st April, 2005.

Share-based Payments
In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” which requires an expense
to be recognised where the Group buys goods or obtains services in exchange for shares or rights over
shares, or in exchange for other assets equivalent in value to a given number of shares or rights over
shares. The principal impact of HKFRS 2 on the Group is in relation to the expensing of the fair value of
directors’ and employees’ share options of the Company determined at the date of grant of the share
options over the vesting period. Prior to the application of HKFRS 2, the Group did not recognise the
financial effect of these share options until they were exercised. In relation to share options granted
before 1st April, 2005, the Group has not applied HKFRS 2 to share options granted on or before 7th
November, 2002 and share options that were granted after 7th November, 2002 but had vested before
1st April, 2005 in accordance with the relevant transitional provisions. The Group is still required to apply
HKFRS 2 retrospectively to share options that were granted after 7th November, 2002 and had not yet
vested on 1st April, 2005. However, no share options remained unvested as at 1st April, 2005. Thus, the
adoption of HKFRS 2 has had no material effect on the result for the current and prior accounting period
as no option was granted since 1st April, 2005. Accordingly, no prior period adjustment has been made.

Financial instruments
HKAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation” requires retrospective application. The
adoption of HKAS 32 has had no material effect on the presentation of financial instruments in the
financial statements of the Group. HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”,
which is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2005, generally does not permit
the recognition, derecognition or measurement of financial assets and liabilities on a retrospective basis.
The principal effects on the Group as a result of implementation of HKAS 39 are summarised below:
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APPLICATION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS/
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities
The Group has applied the relevant transitional provisions in HKAS 39 with respect to classification and
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities that are within the scope of HKAS 39.
On or before 31st March, 2005, the Group classified and measured its investments in debt and equity
securities in accordance with the benchmark treatment of Statement of Standard Accounting Practice
No. 24 “Accounting for Investments in Securities” issued by the HKICPA (“SSAP 24”). Under SSAP 24,
investments in debt or equity securities are classified as “investment securities” or “other investments”
or “held-to-maturity investments” as appropriate. “Investment securities” are carried at cost less
impairment losses while “other investments” are measured at fair value, with unrealised holding gains or
losses included in the profit or loss. Held-to-maturity investments are carried at cost less impairment
losses (if any). From 1st April, 2005 onwards, the Group has classified and measured its investments in
debt and equity securities in accordance with HKAS 39. Under HKAS 39, financial assets are classified as
“financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”, “available-for-sale financial assets”, “loans and
receivables”, or “held-to-maturity financial assets”. The classification depends on the purpose for which
the assets are acquired. “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” and “available-for-sale
financial assets” are carried at fair value with changes in fair values recognised in profit or loss and equity
respectively. “Loans and receivables” and “held-to-maturity financial assets” are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.
From 1st April, 2005 onwards, the Group classified and measured its investments in debt and equity
securities in accordance with the requirements of HKAS 39. Investments in securities classified under
non-current assets with carrying amounts of approximately HK$9,891,000 as at 31st March, 2005 were
designated as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss on 1st April, 2005 and presented as
investments in securities in the balance sheet. No material impact of this reclassification on the result for
the current period or prior accounting periods. Investments in securities classified under current assets
with carrying amount of approximately HK$128,407,000 as at 31st March, 2005 was reclassified to
investments in securities held for trading of HK$119,592,000 and available-for-sale investments of
HK$8,815,000 on 1st April 2005 respectively.

Financial assets and financial liabilities other than debt and equity securities
From 1st April, 2005 onwards, the Group classifies and measures its financial assets and financial liabilities
other than debt and equity securities (which were previously outside the scope of SSAP 24) in accordance
with the requirements of HKAS 39. As mentioned above, financial assets under HKAS 39 are classified as
“financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”, “available-for-sale financial assets”, “loans and
receivables” or “held-to-maturity financial assets”. Financial liabilities are generally classified as “financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” or “other financial liabilities”. “Other financial liabilities” are
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The adoption of HKAS 39 has had no
material effect on the Group’s result for the current and prior accounting periods.
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2.

APPLICATION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS/
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leasehold land held for development
In previous years, properties under development included in property, plant and equipment were measured
at cost less impairment. Under HKAS 17, such leasehold land is classified as a prepaid lease payment
under an operating lease, carried at cost and amortised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. In
the absence of any specific transitional provisions in HKAS 17, such change in accounting policy has
been applied retrospectively. Comparative figures have been restated. The amount of HK$16,000,000
included in properties held for development as at 31st March, 2005 was reclassified into prepaid lease
payments under non-current assets of approximately HK$15,620,000 and prepaid lease payments under
current assets of approximately HK$380,000 respectively. For the current year, an amortisation charge of
HK$327,000 was recognised in the income statement (2005: Nil).

Investment properties
In the current year, the Group has, for the first time, applied HKAS 40 “Investment Property”. The Group
has elected to use the fair value model to account for its investment properties which requires gains or
losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties to be recognised directly in the
profit or loss for the period in which they arise. In previous periods, investment properties accounted for
under Statement of Standard Accounting Practice 13 “Accounting for Investment Properties” were
measured at open market values, with revaluation surplus or deficits credited or charged to investment
property revaluation reserve unless the balance on this reserve was insufficient to cover a revaluation
decrease, in which case the excess of the revaluation decrease over the balance on the investment
property revaluation reserve was charged to the income statement. Where a decrease had previously
been charged to the income statement and revaluation subsequently arose, that increase was credited
to the income statement to the extent of the decrease previously charged. The Group has applied the
relevant transitional provision in HKAS 40 and elected to apply HKAS 40 retrospectively. Comparative
figures have been restated. (see note 3 for the financial impact)

Deferred taxes related to investment properties
In previous periods, deferred tax consequences in respect of revalued investment properties were assessed
on the basis of the tax consequence that would follow from recovery of the carrying amount of the
properties through sale in accordance with the predecessor Interpretation. In the current period, the
Group has applied HK (SIC) Interpretation 21 “Income Taxes — Recovery of Revalued Non-Depreciable
Assets” which removes the presumption that the carrying amount of investment properties are to be
recovered through sale. Therefore, the deferred tax consequences of the investment properties are now
assessed on the basis that reflect the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects to recover the property at each balance sheet date. In the absence of any specific
transitional provisions in HK(SIC) Interpretation 21, this change in accounting policy has been applied
retrospectively. Comparative figures have been restated. (see note 3 for the financial impact)
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2.

APPLICATION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS/
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Deferred taxes related to investment properties (Continued)
The Group has not early applied the following new standards, amendments and interpretations that
have been issued but are not yet effective. The directors of the Company anticipate that it will have no
material impact on the financial statements except for HKAS 39 and HKFRS 4 (Amendments) on financial
guarantee contracts (which requires financial guarantees to be initially measured at fair value), which
may have potential impact to the financial statements.
HKAS 1 (Amendment)
HKAS 19 (Amendment)
HKAS 21 (Amendment)
HKAS 39 (Amendment)
HKAS 39 (Amendment)
HKAS 39 & HKFRS 4 (Amendments)
HKFRS 6
HKFRS 7
HK(IFRIC) — INT 4
HK(IFRIC) — INT 5
HK(IFRIC) — INT 6
HK(IFRIC) — INT 7
HK(IFRIC) — INT 8
HK(IFRIC) — INT 9
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Capital disclosures1
Actuarial gains and losses, group plans and disclosures2
Net investment in a foreign operation2
Cash flow hedge accounting of forecast intragroup transactions2
The fair value option2
Financial guarantee contracts2
Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources2
Financial instruments: Disclosures1
Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease2
Rights to interests arising from decommissioning, restoration and
environmental rehabilitation funds2
Liabilities arising from participating in a specific market — waste
electrical and electronic equipment3
Applying the restatement approach under HKAS 29 Financial
Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies4
Scope of HKFRS 25
Reassessment of embedded derivatives6

1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2007.

2

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2006.

3

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st December, 2005.

4

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st March, 2006.

5

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st May, 2006.

6

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st June, 2006.
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3.

SUMMARY OF THE EFFECTS OF THE CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The effects of the changes in accounting policies described above on the results are as follows:

(i)

On results
2006
HK$’000
Decrease in release of negative goodwill included in
interests in associates to the income statement upon
disposal of interests in associates
Decrease in release of investment property revaluation
reserve to income statement upon disposal of investment
properties/subsidiaries
Increase in fair value of investment properties
Release of deferred tax liability related to investment
property disposed of during the year
Release of deferred tax liability related to investment
property held by a disposed subsidiary
Recognition of deferred tax liability related to change
in fair value of investment properties
Decrease in gain on disposal of interest in associates
Non-amortisation of goodwill
Release of prepaid lease payments
Increase in profit for the year

(ii)

(8,110)

(62,554)
100,000

2005
HK$’000

—

(13,525)
146,554

10,947

—

—

2,367

(17,500)
(27)
27
(655)

(25,647)
—
—
—

22,128

109,749

2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

27
(8,137)
(62,554)
100,000
(6,553)

—
—
(11,158)
146,554
(25,647)

On income statement line items

Non-amortisation of goodwill of interests in associates
Gain on disposal of interests in associates
Gain on disposal of investment properties/subsidiaries
Increase in fair value of investment properties
Taxation
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments included in
administrative expenses

(655)
22,128

—
109,749
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3.

SUMMARY OF THE EFFECTS OF THE CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(iii) On balance sheet items
(a)

The cumulative effects of the application of the new HKFRSs as at 31st March, 2005 and 1st
April, 2005 are summarised below:

Adjustment
— HKAS 40
HK$’000

16,000

Adjustment
— HKAS 17
HK$’000

Adjustment
— HK(SIC)
— INT 21
HK$’000

As at
31st March,
2005
(as restated)
HK$’000

Adjustment
— HKAS 39
HK$’000

Adjustment
— HKFRS 3
HK$’000

As at
1st April,
2005
(as restated)
HK$’000

—

(16,000)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

15,620

—

15,620

—

—

15,620

—

—

380

—

380

—

—

380

9,891

—

—

—

9,891

(9,891)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

9,891

—

9,891

128,407

—

—

—

128,407

(128,407)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

119,592

—

119,592

—
30,119
(2,360)

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
(61,180)

—
30,119
(63,540)

8,815
—
—

—
8,110
—

8,815
38,229
(63,540)

Total effects on assets
and liabilities

182,057

—

—

(61,180)

120,877

—

8,110

128,987

Investment properties
revaluation reserve
Accumulated profits

(347,532)
(255,903)

347,532
(347,532)

—
—

—
61,180

—
(542,255)

—
—

—
(8,110)

—
(550,365)

Total effects on equity

(603,435)

—

—

61,180

(542,255)

—

(8,110)

(550,365)

Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid lease payments
— non-current
Prepaid lease payments
— current
Investments in securities
— non-current
Financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss
— investments in securities
Investments in securities
— current
Investments in securities
held for trading — current
Available-for-sale investments
— current
Interests in associates
Deferred tax liability
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As at
31st March,
2005
(originally
stated)
HK$’000
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3.

SUMMARY OF THE EFFECTS OF THE CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(iii) On balance sheet items
(b)

4.

(Continued)

The financial effects of the application of the new HKFRSs to the Group’s equity on 1st
April, 2004 are summarised below:

As
originally
stated
HK$’000

Adjustment
— HKAS 40
& HK (SIC)
— INT 21
HK$’000

As restated
HK$’000

Accumulated profits
Investment properties
revaluation reserve

184,131

176,603

360,734

214,503

(214,503)

—

Total effects on equity

398,634

(37,900)

360,734

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except
for the investment properties and certain financial instruments which are measured at fair values, as
explained in the accounting policies below.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31st March each year.
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
income statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as
appropriate.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with those used by other members of the Group.
All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses have been eliminated on consolidation.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s
equity therein. Minority interests in the net assets consist of the amount of those interests at the date of
the original business combination and the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of the
combination. Losses applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s
equity are allocated against the interests of the Group except to the extent that the minority has a
binding obligation and is able to make an additional investment to cover the losses.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to 1st January, 2005
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary, an associate or a jointly-controlled entity for which the
agreement date is before 1st January, 2005 represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the
Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the relevant subsidiary, associate
or jointly-controlled entity at the date of acquisition.
For previously capitalised goodwill arising on acquisitions after 1st April, 2001, the Group has discontinued
amortisation from 1st April, 2005 onwards, and such goodwill is tested for impairment annually, and
whenever there is an indication that the cash generating unit to which the goodwill relates may be
impaired (see the accounting policy below).

Goodwill arising on acquisitions on or after 1st January, 2005
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary, an associate or a jointly-controlled entity for which the
agreement date is on or after 1st January, 2005 represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the
Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the
relevant subsidiary, associate or jointly-controlled entity at the date of acquisition. Such goodwill is carried
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
Capitalised goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary is presented separately in the balance
sheet. Capitalised goodwill arising on an acquisition of an associate or a jointly-controlled entity (which
is accounted for using the equity method) is included in the cost of the investment of the relevant associate
or jointly-controlled entity.
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising from an acquisition is allocated to each of the
relevant cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that financial year. When the recoverable amount of the cashgenerating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the other assets of the unit
pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill
is recognised directly in the income statement. An impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Goodwill (Continued)
Goodwill arising on acquisitions on or after 1st January, 2005 (Continued)
On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, an associate or a jointly-controlled entity, the attributable amount
of goodwill capitalised is included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Excess of an acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of an acquiree’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost (“discount on acquisitions”,
previously known as negative goodwill)
A discount on acquisition arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary, an associate or a jointly-controlled
entity for which an agreement date is on or after 1st January, 2005 represents the excess of the net fair
value of an acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of the business
combination. Discount on acquisition is recognised immediately in profit or loss. A discount on acquisition
arising on an acquisition of an associate or a jointly-controlled entity (which is accounted for using the
equity method) is included as income in the determination of the investor’s share of results of the associate
or jointly-controlled entity in the period in which the investment is acquired.
As explained in Note 2 above, all negative goodwill as at 1st April, 2005 has been derecognised with a
corresponding adjustment to the Group’s accumulated profits.

Investments in associates
The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, investments in associates are carried in the
consolidated balance sheet at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and of changes in equity of the associate, less any identified impairment loss. When the
Group’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds its interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the
Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. An additional share of losses is provided for
and a liability is recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of that associate.
Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the relevant associate.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Joint ventures
Jointly-controlled entities
Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of a separate entity in which venturers have
joint control over the economic activity of the entity are referred to as jointly-controlled entities.
The results and assets and liabilities of jointly-controlled entities are incorporated in the consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, investments in
jointly-controlled entities are carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost as adjusted for postacquisition changes in the Group’s share of the profit or loss and of changes in equity of the jointlycontrolled entities, less any identified impairment loss. When the Group’s share of losses of a jointlycontrolled entity equals or exceeds its interest in that jointly-controlled entity (which includes any longterm interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the jointly-controlled entity),
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. An additional share of losses is provided
for and a liability is recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of that jointly-controlled entity.
When a group entity transacts with a jointly-controlled entity of the Group, unrealised profits or losses
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the jointly-controlled entity, except to the extent
that unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case, the full
amount of losses is recognised.

Revenue recognition
Sales of investments in securities are recognised when the sale contracts become unconditional.
Sales of properties are recognised upon completion of the binding sales agreements or transfer of risk
and reward of ownership, whichever is earlier.
Dividend income from investments in securities is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive
payment have been established.
Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.
Rental income, including rental invoiced in advance from properties under operating leases, is recognised
on a straight line basis over the period of the respective leases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment
At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. For intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives, they are tested for impairment annually by comparing their carrying amounts
with their recoverable amounts, irrespective of whether there is any indication that they may be impaired.
If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, such that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

Investment properties
On initial recognition, investment properties are measured at cost, including any directly attributable
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured using the fair value
model. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of investment properties are included in profit
or loss for the period in which they arise.
An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use or no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the currency amount of the asset) is included in the income statement in the year in which the item
is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment over their estimated
useful lives and after taking into account their estimated residual value, using the straight line method.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the item) is included in the income statement in the year in which the item is dereognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leasehold land held for undetermined future use
Leasehold land held for undetermined future use is classified as a prepared lease payment under an
operating lease. It is stated at cost and amortised on a straight line basis over the lease term.

Properties held for sale
Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost comprises all costs of
purchase and other direct cost to acquire the properties. Net realisable value is calculated at the actual
or estimated selling price less related costs of marketing and selling.

Leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense on a straightline basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
term of the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating
lease are recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Retirement benefit scheme
Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are charged as an expense as they fall due.

Foreign currencies
In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other
than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in its functional currency (i.e.
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange differences
arising on a monetary item that forms part of the Group’s net investment in a foreign operation, in which
case, such exchange differences are recognised in equity in the consolidated financial statements.
For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Company (i.e. Hong
Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date, and their income and expenses
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised as a separate component of equity (the translation
reserve). Such exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign
operation is disposed of.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation on or after 1st April, 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in the translation reserve.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as
reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at
the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill (or negative goodwill) or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, associates and jointly-controlled entities except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when
it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with
in equity.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when a group entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets
The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the three categories, including financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale financial assets and loans and receivables. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. The accounting policies adopted
in respect of each category of financial assets are set out below.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss have two subcategories, including financial assets held
for trading and those designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition. At each balance
sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured
at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments(Continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated or not classified as any
of the other categories.
At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are
measured at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised in equity, until the financial asset is disposed
of or is determined to be impaired, at which time, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
equity is removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss. Any impairment losses on available-forsale financial assets are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity
investments will not reverse in subsequent periods. For available-for-sale debt investments, impairment
losses are subsequently reversed if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss.
For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and
whose fair value cannot be reliably measured the derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by
delivery of such unquoted equity instruments, they are measured at cost less any identified impairment
losses at each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition. An impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. The amount of the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial assets.
Such impairment losses will not reverse in subsequent periods.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including trade and other receivables, deposits held in stakeholders, amount due from an
investee, amount due from a jointly-controlled entity, amounts due from associates, pledged bank deposits
and bank balances and cash) are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
identified impairment losses. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective
interest rate. Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods when an increase in the asset’s
recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
subject to a restriction that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does
not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Annual Report 2006

43

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March, 2006

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments(Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified according to the substance
of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after
deducting all of its liabilities.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities including other payables, amounts due to minority shareholders and bank borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Club debentures
Club debentures are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of club debentures are measured at the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the income statement
when the asset is derecognised.
Club debentures are tested for impairment annually by comparing their carrying amounts with their
recoverable amounts, irrespective of whether there is any indication that they may be impaired. If the
recoverable amount of club debenture is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the club debenture is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as
an expense immediately.
When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of club debenture is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for that club debenture in prior years.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees of the Company prior to 1st January, 2005
Prior to 1st April, 2005, the financial impact of share options granted is not recorded in the Company’s
balance sheet until such time as the options are exercised, and no charge is recognised in the income
statement in respect of the value of options granted in the year. Upon the exercise of the share options,
the resulting shares issued are recorded by the Company as additional share capital at the nominal value
of the shares, and the excess of the exercise price per share over the nominal value of the shares is
recorded by the Company in the share premium account. Options which lapse or are cancelled prior to
their expiry dates are removed from the register of outstanding options.
Share options granted to employees of the Company since 1st January, 2005
The fair value of services received determined by reference to the fair value of share options granted at
the grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share option reserve).
At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share option
reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after vesting or are
still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in equity (share option reserve)
will be transferred to accumulated profits.

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other receivables, deposits held in stakeholders,
pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash, amount due from an investee, amounts due from
associates, amount due from a jointly-controlled entity, accruals and other payables, amounts due to
minority shareholders and bank borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risks
(i)

Interest rate risk
The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to variable-rate bank borrowings. The
Group currently does not have interest rate risk hedging policy. However, management monitors
the interest rate exposure closely and will consider interest rate risk hedging should the need
arises.
The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates to the short-term fixed bank deposits. The directors
consider these exposure to be insignificant because of the bank balances are with short deposit
period.
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5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Market risks (Continued)
(ii)

Other price risk
The Group is exposed to equity price risk. The management manages this exposure by maintaining
a portfolio of investments with different risk profiles.

Credit risk
The Group’s exposure to credit risk in the event of the counterparties‘ failure to perform their obligations
as at 31st March, 2006 in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of
these assets as stated in the consolidated balance sheet. In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of trade and other receivables, amount
due from an investee, amount due from a jointly-controlled entity and amounts due from associates at
each balance sheet date to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high-credit-ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
The credit risk on investments in listed debt securities is limited because the counterparties are
corporations with high-credit-ratings.

6.

TURNOVER

Rental income
Sales of properties
Sales of securities
Dividend income from securities held for trading
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2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

34,314
162,427
170,395
4,502

32,605
114,010
222,249
4,468

371,638

373,332

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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7.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
Business segments
For management purposes, the Group is currently organised into two major operating divisions — property
investment and securities investment.
These divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its primary segment information.
Principal activities are as follows:
Property investment

—

Sale and leasing of properties and property development

Securities investment

—

Trading of securities

An analysis of the Group’s turnover and contribution to operating results and segmental assets and
liabilities by business segments is as follows:
Property
investment
HK$’000

Securities
investment
HK$’000

Consolidated
HK$’000

TURNOVER
External sales

196,741

174,897

371,638

RESULT
Segment result

117,894

22,500

140,394

For the year ended 31st March, 2006

Unallocated corporate expenses
Finance costs
Share of results of associates
Share of results of
a jointly-controlled entity
Gain on disposal of interests
in subsidiaries
Gain on disposal of interests
in associates

(4,305)
(18,010)
362

362

—

291

—

291

35,990

—

35,990

4,763

—

4,763

Profit before taxation
Taxation

159,485
(18,146)

Profit for the year

141,339
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7.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Continued)
Business segments (Continued)
Property
investment
HK$’000

Securities
investment
HK$’000

Consolidated
HK$’000

TURNOVER
External sales

146,615

226,717

373,332

RESULT
Segment result

173,124

11,408

184,532

For the year ended 31st March, 2005

Unallocated corporate expenses
Finance costs
Amortisation of goodwill of
interest in associates
Release of negative goodwill of
associates to income
Share of results of associates
Gain on disposal of interests
in subsidiaries
Loss on disposal of interests
in associates
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(2,070)
(5,361)
(359)

3,165

—

350
3,165

36,070

—

36,070

—

(3,587)

(3,587)

Profit before taxation
Taxation

212,740
(31,582)

Profit for the year

181,158
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7.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Continued)
Business segments (Continued)
Property
investment
HK$’000

Securities
investment
HK$’000

Others
HK$’000

Consolidated
HK$’000

444,754

—

1,566,888

Assets and liabilities as at 31st March, 2006
ASSETS
Segment assets
Interests in jointly-controlled
entities
Interest in associates
Unallocated total assets

1,122,134

291
96
53,751

Consolidated total assets
LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities
Unallocated corporate liabilities

1,621,026

12,795

2,430

—

Consolidated total liabilities
Capital expenditure
— Property, plant and equipment
Depreciation
Release of prepaid lease payments
Allowance on other receivables

15,225
393,657
408,882

3,261
3,180
655
—

—
102
—
—

—
—
—
530

3,261
3,282
655
530
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7.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Continued)
Business segments (Continued)
Property
investment
HK$’000

Securities
investment
HK$’000

Others
HK$’000

Consolidated
HK$’000

1,168,639

274,007

—

1,442,646
30,119
41,651

Assets and liabilities as at
31st March, 2005
ASSETS
Segment assets
Interest in associates
Unallocated total assets
Consolidated total assets
LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities
Unallocated corporate liabilities

1,514,416

40,297

2,860

—

Consolidated total liabilities

43,157
613,649
656,806

Other information for the year
ended 31st March, 2005
Capital expenditure
— Property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation
Amortisation of goodwill of
interests in associates
Release of negative goodwill
of associates
Changes in fair value of
investment in securities

—
101

—
—

15,421
1,381

15,421
1,482

—

—

359

359

—

—

350

350

—

5,189

—

5,189

Geographical segments
The following provides an analysis of the Group’s turnover by geographic market, irrespective of the
origin of the goods/services:
Turnover

Overseas
Hong Kong

2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

95,563
276,075

169,323
204,009

371,638

373,332

The carrying amount of segment assets and capital additions by geographical segment has not been prepared
as all the Group’s carrying amount of assets and capital additions were derived from Hong Kong.
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8.

OTHER INCOME

Interest income
Dividend income from investments in securities
at fair value through profit or loss/investments in securities
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Others

9.

2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

8,475

1,555

52
440
3,633

618
781
2,219

12,600

5,173

2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

—
—

78
448

—

526

2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

17,323

115

687

5,246

18,010

5,361

OTHER EXPENSES

Impairment loss of goodwill arising from acquisition
of a subsidiary
Loss on disposal of investment in securities

10. FINANCE COSTS

Interest on:
Bank borrowings wholly repayable within five years
Bank borrowings with instalments
repayable over five years
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11. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

300
4,978
4,785
191

400
2,385
4,191
295

10,254

7,271

650
30
3,282
655
530
129,999

530
—
1,482
—
—
93,383

29,160

23,790

13,478

3,879

2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

Profit before taxation has been arrived at after charging:
Directors’ remuneration (note 13(a)):
Fees
Other emoluments
Other staff costs
Retirement benefit scheme contributions
Total staff costs
Auditors’ remuneration
Current year
Underprovision in prior year
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Release of prepaid lease payments
Allowance for other receivables
Cost of properties held for sale recognised as an expense
and after crediting:
Net rental income in respect of premises after
outgoings of HK$5,154,000 (2005: HK$8,815,000)
Realised and unrealised fair value changes
in securities held for trading

12. TAXATION

The charge comprises:
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Hong Kong Profits Tax
— Current year
— (Over) underprovision in prior years

11,990
(949)

4,744
43

Deferred taxation (note 24)

11,041
7,105

4,787
26,795

Taxation attributable to the Company and its subsidiaries

18,146

31,582

Capital Strategic Investment Limited
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12. TAXATION (Continued)
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 17.5% of the estimated assessable profit for the year.
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation as per the consolidated
income statement as follows:
2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

Profit before taxation

159,485

212,740

Taxation at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 17.5%
Tax effect of income not taxable in determining taxable profit
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Tax effect of share of results of jointly-controlled entities
Tax effect of share of results of associates
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised
(Over)underprovision in respect of prior year
Others

27,910
(10,918)
3,391
(51)
(63)
373
(1,475)
(949)
(72)

37,229
(8,294)
3,883
—
(554)
207
(911)
43
(21)

18,146

31,582

Tax charge for the year
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION
(a) Directors’ remuneration

Directors’ fees
Executive director
Non-executive director
— Mr. Chung Cho Yee, Mico
Independent non-executive directors
— Dr. Lam Lee G
— Dato’ Wong Sin Just
— Mr. Liu Yeau – Hwan, Pete
— Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo
Total directors’ fees
Other emoluments
Executive directors
(i) Salaries and other benefits and bonus
— Dato’ Choo Yeow Ming
— Ms. Ma Wai Man, Catherine
— Mr. Chow Hou Man

(ii)

Retirement benefit scheme contributions
— Dato’ Choo Yeow Ming
— Ms. Ma Wai Man, Catherine
— Mr. Chow Hou Man

Non-executive director
(i) Salaries and other benefits and bonus
— Mr. Chung Cho Yee, Mico
Independent non-executive directors
Total directors’ remuneration

2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

—

—

—

—

100
100
—
100

100
100
100
100

300

400

—
1,560
800

1,025
1,246
—

2,360

2,271

—
78
40

52
62
—

118

114

2,500

—

—

—

5,278

2,785

No directors have waived any emoluments during both years.
During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any director as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss to office.
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION (Continued)
(b) Employees’ remuneration
The five highest paid individuals in the Group included two directors (2005: two directors) of the
Company, details of whose remuneration are set out above. The aggregate remuneration of the
remaining highest paid individuals, who are employees of the Group, is as follows:

Salaries and other benefits
Retirement benefit scheme contributions

HK$
Nil to 1,000,000
1,000,001 to 1,500,000
1,500,001 to 2,000,000

2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

2,300
115

2,084
104

2,415

2,188

2006
Number of
employees

2005
Number of
employees

2
—
1

2
1
—

2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

15,273

16,959

14. DIVIDENDS

Proposed final dividend of HK1.7 cents per share
(2005: HK3.5 cents)

The directors have resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK$15,273,000 representing
HK1.7 cents per share (2005: HK3.5 cents per share) in respect of the year ended 31st March, 2006.
The final dividend proposed after the balance sheet date has not been recognised as a liability at the
balance sheet date.
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15. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the equity holders of the
parent is based on the following data:
2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent

140,283

181,521

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose
of calculating basic earnings per share (in thousands)

435,632

383,517

29,635

11,273

465,267

394,790

Earnings for the purpose of calculating basic
and diluted earnings per share:

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares (in thousands):
Share options
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose
of calculating diluted earnings per share (in thousands)

The following table summarises the impact on both basic and diluted earnings per share as a result of:
Impact on basic
earnings per share
Year ended
Year ended
31st March,
31st March,
2006
2005
HK Cents
HK Cents
Reported figures
before adjustments
Adjustments arising
from changes in
accounting policies
(See note 3)
Restated
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Impact on diluted
earnings per share
Year ended
Year ended
31st March,
31st March,
2006
2005
HK Cents
HK Cents

27.12

18.71

25.39

18.18

5.08

28.62

4.76

27.80

32.20

47.33

30.15

45.98
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
HK$’000
FAIR VALUE
At 1st April, 2004
Additions
Eliminated on disposal of a subsidiary
Increase in fair value recognised in the income statement

482,650
233,446
(44,650)
146,554

At 31st March, 2005
Additions
Disposals
Increase in fair value recognised in the income statement

818,000
36,555
(296,000)
100,000

At 31st March, 2006

658,555

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31st March, 2006 have been arrived at on the basis
of a valuation carried out on that date by DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Project Services Limited and Skyland
Surveyors Co., independent qualified professional valuers not connected with the Group. DTZ Debenham
Tie Leung Project Services Limited and Skyland Surveyors Co. are members of the Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors, and have appropriate qualifications and recent experiences in the valuation of similar
properties in the relevant locations. The valuation, which conforms to International Valuation Standards,
was arrived at by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties.
All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases to earn rentals are measured using the
fair value model and are classified and accounted for as investment properties. As at 31st March, 2006,
the carrying amount of such property interests amounted to HK$658,555,000 (2005: HK$818,000,000).
The Group’s investment properties amounting to approximately HK$622,000,000 (2005: HK$818,000,000)
have been pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group.
The carrying value of the investment properties comprises properties held under long-term lease in
Hong Kong.
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Furniture,
fixtures
and office
equipment
HK$’000

Motor
vehicles
HK$’000

Vessel
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

COST
At 1st April, 2004
Additions
Disposals

1,903
1,624
(1,592)

1,654
—
—

6,000
13,797
(5,800)

9,557
15,421
(7,392)

At 31st March, 2005
Additions
Disposals

1,935
1,760
—

1,654
1,501
(1,431)

13,997
—
—

17,586
3,261
(1,431)

At 31st March, 2006

3,695

1,724

13,997

19,416

DEPRECIATION
At 1st April, 2004
Provided for the year
Eliminated on disposals

863
402
(957)

1,654
—
—

1,300
1,080
(1,836)

3,817
1,482
(2,793)

At 31st March, 2005
Provided for the year
Eliminated on disposals

308
441
—

1,654
42
(1,431)

544
2,799
—

2,506
3,282
(1,431)

At 31st March, 2006

749

265

3,343

4,357

CARRYING VALUES
At 31st March, 2006

2,946

1,459

10,654

15,059

At 31st March, 2005

1,627

—

13,453

15,080

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line method at the
following rates per annum:
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment
Motor vehicles
Vessel

20%
20%
20%

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment with carrying amount of approximately HK$1,760,000 (2005:
Nil) were pledged to banks to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group.
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18. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS
HK$’000
COST
At 1st April, 2004
Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary

—
16,000

At 31st March, 2005
Additions

16,000
240,000

At 31st March, 2006

256,000

AMORTISATION
At 1st April, 2004 and 1st April, 2005
Provided for the year

—
655

At 31st March, 2006

655

CARRYING VALUE
At 31st March, 2006

255,345

At 31st March, 2005

16,000
2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

239,726
15,619

—
16,000

255,345

16,000

655
254,690

380
15,620

255,345

16,000

The Group’s prepaid lease payments comprise:
Leasehold land in Hong Kong:
Long lease
Medium-lease

Analysed for reporting purposes as:
Current asset
Non-current asset
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19. DEPOSIT PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
On 15th January, 2005, the Group entered into conditional agreements to acquire 100% interest in Fook
Shing Limited (“Fook Shing”) and Yieldson Development Limited (“Yieldson”) for an aggregate
consideration of approximately HK$240,000,000 whilst an amount of HK$35,000,000 were paid as deposit
as at 31st March, 2005. Fook Shing and Yieldson are property holding companies and their properties
are located in Hong Kong. The acquisition was completed during the year.

20. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS/INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES HELD FOR
TRADING/INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES
The carrying value of investments in securities as at 31st March, 2005 (which previously were classified
and measured under benchmark treatment in accordance with SSAP 24 issued by the HKICPA) were
reclassified to appropriate categories upon application of HKAS 39 on 1st April, 2005.

Equity securities:
Listed
Unlisted

Debt securities
Listed
Unlisted

Total and reported as:
Listed
Hong Kong
Elsewhere
Unlisted

Classified under
Investments in securities included in non-current assets
Available-for-sale investments included in current assets
Investments in securities held for trading included in
current assets
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2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

70,955
5,005

44,332
5,005

75,960

49,337

33,200
3,810

84,951
4,010

37,010

88,961

61,959
42,196
8,815

129,283
—
9,015

112,970

138,298

—

9,891

8,815

—

104,155

128,407

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March, 2006

20. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS/INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES HELD FOR
TRADING/INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES (Continued)
The carrying value of unlisted equity securities in Hong Kong at 31st March, 2006, represents 8.27%
(2005: 8.27%) interest in MC. Founder Limited (“MC. Founder”). MC. Founder is incorporated in Hong
Kong and engaged in trading of mobile phone. They are measured at cost less impairment at each
balance sheet date because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that the directors
of the Company are of the opinion that their fair values cannot be measured reliably.
The carrying value of listed debt securities at 31st March, 2006 represented bonds bearing interest
ranging from 5.45% to 8.25% per annum. The fair values of the listed debt securities are determined
based on the bid prices quoted in active market. The maturity dates of the listed debt debentures are as
follows:

Within one year
Between one to two years
Between two to three years
Between four to five years
Over five years

2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

25,238
5,648
—
2,314
—

47,019
25,860
9,707
—
2,365

33,200

84,951

The fair values of the listed equity securities are determined based on the quoted market bid prices
available on the relevant exchanges.

21. CLUB DEBENTURES

Club debentures, at cost

2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

6,860

6,860

The directors are of the opinion that there were no impairment on the club debentures since the market
price are higher than its carrying value.
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22. INTERESTS IN JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES
2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

—
291

—
—

291

—

Cost of unlisted investments in jointly-controlled entities
Share of post-acquisition profits

As at 31st March, 2006, the Group had interests in the following jointly-controlled entities:
Proportion of
Place/

Name of entity

nominal value

Form of

Country of

Principal

business

incorporation/

place of

Class of

registered capital

of issued capital/

Proportion
of voting

structure

registration

operation

share held

held by the Group

power held

Principal activity

%

Favor Win Limited

Incorporated

British Virgins

Hong Kong

Ordinary

50

50

Investment holding

Hong Kong

Ordinary

25

25

Investment holding

Islands

Gain Resources

Incorporated

British Virgins

Limited

Islands

and property leasing

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s jointly-controlled entities which are
accounted for using the equity method is set out below:
2006
HK$’000
Total assets
Total liabilities
Net assets
Group’s share of net assets of jointly-controlled entities
Revenue
Profit for the year
Group’s share of results of jointly-controlled
entities for the year
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873,914
(872,741)

2005
HK$’000
—
—

1,173

—

291

—

11,904

—

1,171

—

291

—

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March, 2006

23. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

Costs of investment in associates
— Listed in Hong Kong
— Unlisted
Share of post-acquisition profits

—
96
—

44,964
—
(16,570)

Goodwill (note a)
Negative goodwill (note b)

96
—
—

28,394
6,885
(8,110)

Amounts due from associates (Note)

96
—

27,169
2,950

96

30,119

N/A

16,337

Fair value of listed investments
During the year, the Group acquired 20% equity interest in Femville Pte. Ltd.
Particulars of the associates at 31st March, 2006 are as follows:

Name of associate

Place of
incorporation

Place of
operation

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share capital
held indirectly
by the Company

Femville Pte. Ltd.

Singapore

Singapore

20%

Property investment,
securities trading,
estate agency and
related investment

Orient Centre Limited

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

25%

Property investment

Principal activities

Note: As at 31st March, 2005, the amounts due from associates are unsecured, non-interest bearing and had no
fixed repayment terms. The amount were not be repaid within twelve months from 31st March, 2005 and
therefore classified as non-current assets. The fair value of the amount due from associates as at 31st March,
2005 approximates to the corresponding carrying value.
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23. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
As at 31st March, 2005, included in the cost of investment in associates was goodwill and negative
goodwill of HK$6,885,000 and HK$8,110,000 respectively arising on acquisition of interests in associates.
The movements of goodwill and negative goodwill were set out below:

(a)

Goodwill
HK$’000
Gross amount
At 1st April, 2004
Released upon disposal/dilution of interests in associates

9,336
(446)

At 31st March, 2005
Elimination of accumulated amortisation upon
the application of HKFRSs (see note 3)

8,890
(2,005)

Release upon disposal of interests in associates

(6,885)

At 31st March, 2006
Amortisation
At 1st April, 2004
Charged for the year
At 31st March, 2005
Elimination of accumulated amorisation upon
the application of HKFRSs (see note 3)

—
1,646
359
2,005
(2,005)

At 31st March, 2006

—

Carrying values
At 31st March, 2006

—

At 31st March, 2005

6,885

Until 31st March, 2005, goodwill was amortised over its estimated useful life of twenty years.

(b)

Negative goodwill
HK$’000
Gross amount
At 1st April, 2004
Arising on acquisition of associates
At 31st March, 2005
Released to income
At 1st April, 2004
Released during the year
At 31st March, 2005
Carrying values
At 31st March, 2005
Derecognised upon the application of HFKRS 3 (see note 3)
At 1st April, 2005
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5,199
3,535
8,734
(274)
(350)
(624)
8,110
(8,110)
—

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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23. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
(b) Negative goodwill (Continued)
Until 31st March, 2005, negative goodwill was amortised over a period from five to twenty years.
As explained in note 2, all negative goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to 1st January, 2005 was
derecognised as a result of the application of HKFRS 3.
Negative goodwill with carrying amount of HK$8,110,000 as at 31st March, 2005 was presented as a
deduction from the cost of investments in associates. In prior years, negative goodwill was released to
income on a straight line basis over the useful life of the depreciable assets of that associates. The
amount of negative goodwill released to the income statement for the year ended 31st March, 2005 was
HK$350,000. All negative goodwill was derecognised on 1st April, 2005 upon the application of HKFRS
3 (see note 3).
In May 2005, the Group disposed of its entire interest in Capital Estate Limited (a company whose shares
are listed on The Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited), an 21.13% associate of the
Group as at 31st March, 2005 for a consideration of approximately HK$40,414,000 and resulted in a gain
on disposal of an associate of approximately HK$4,763,000.
The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associates is set out below:
2006
HK$’000
Total assets
Total liabilities
Net (liabilities) assets

37,388
(37,475)

2005
HK$’000
185,899
(53,807)

(87)

132,092

96

28,394

Revenue

22,040

12,462

Profit for the year

13,896

11,988

362

3,165

Group’s share of net assets of associates

Group’s share of result of associates for the year
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24. DEFERRED TAXATION
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised and movements during the current
and prior accounting periods:
Revaluation
of investment
properties
HK$’000

Accelerated
tax
depreciation
HK$’000

Subtotal
HK$’000

Tax losses
HK$’000
(275 )

Total
HK$’000

At 1st April, 2004 as originally stated
Effects of change in accounting
policies (note 3)

—

878

878

37,900

—

37,900

—

37,900

At 1st April, 2004 as restated
Charge (credit) to income for the year
Disposal of a subsidiary

37,900
25,647
(2,367 )

878
1,482
—

38,778
27,129
(2,367 )

(275 )
(334 )
—

38,503
26,795
(2,367 )

At 31st March, 2005
Charge (credit) to income for the year
Disposal of investment properties

61,180
17,500
(10,947 )

2,360
1,413
—

63,540
18,913
(10,947 )

(609 )
(861 )
—

62,931
18,052
(10,947 )

At 31st March, 2006

67,733

3,773

71,506

(1,470 )

603

70,036

As at 31st March, 2006, the Group had unused tax losses of approximately HK$12,721,000 (2005:
HK$14,088,000) available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax assets had been recognised in
respect of the unused tax losses in respect of HK$4,310,000 (2005: HK$10,604,000) due to unpredictability
of future profits streams. Such tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely.

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
The Group allows its trade customers with a credit period normally ranging from 30 days to 90 days. The
aged analysis of the trade receivables at the balance sheet dates is as follows:

0 — 30 days
Other receivables

2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

535
4,346

239
5,323

4,881

5,562

The carrying amount of the Group’s trade receivables at the balance sheet dates approximates to the
corresponding fair value.
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26. DEPOSIT HELD IN STAKEHOLDERS
The carrying amount of the Group’s deposit held in stakeholders at the balance sheet dates approximates
to the corresponding fair value.

27. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
The carrying value of properties held for sale comprises properties held under long term leases in Hong
Kong.
In the opinion of the directors, the properties held for sale are expected to be realised in the next twelve
months.

28. AMOUNT DUE FROM AN INVESTEE
The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. The carrying amount of the
Group’s amount due from an investee at 31st March, 2006 approximates to the corresponding fair value.

29. AMOUNT DUE FROM A JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITY
The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. The carrying amount of the
Group’s amount due from a jointly-controlled entity at 31st March, 2006 approximates to the corresponding
fair value.

30. AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES
The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. The carrying amount of the
Group’s amounts due from associates at balance sheet dates approximates to the corresponding fair
value.

31. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK BALANCES AND CASH
Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to banks to secure banking facilities granted to the
Group. Deposits amounting to HK$165,366,000 (2005: HK$5,230,000) have been pledged to secure
bank overdrafts, short term bank borrowings and undrawn facilities and are therefore classified as current
assets.
The pledged bank deposits carry interest ranged from 3.19% to 4.68% per annum (2005: 0.63% per
annum). The fair value of the pledged bank deposits at the balance sheet dates approximates to the
corresponding carrying amount.
Included in the pledged bank deposits, approximately HK$157,548,000 (2005: HK$5,230,000) are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and HK$7,818,000 (2005: Nil) are denominated in the United States
dollars.
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31. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK BALANCES AND CASH (Continued)
Bank balances and cash comprises bank balances and cash held by the Group and short-term bank
deposits that are interest-bearing at market interest rate. All bank deposits are with maturity of three
months or less. The bank deposits carry fixed interest rates ranging from 0.9% to 4.723% (2005: 0.0625%
to 2.625%) per annum. The fair values of the amounts at the balance sheet date approximate to the
corresponding carrying amounts.

32. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES
The carrying amount of the Group’s other payables at the balance sheet dates approximates to the
corresponding carrying amount.

33. AMOUNTS DUE TO MINORITY SHAREHOLDERS
The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. The carrying amount of the
Group’s amounts due to minority shareholders at the balance sheet dates approximate to the
corresponding carrying amounts.

34. BANK BORROWINGS

Bank loans
Bank overdrafts

Analysed by
Secured

2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

314,048
—

534,910
130

314,048

535,040

314,048

535,040

158,805
15,225
15,225
15,225
16,265
93,303

158,610
28,890
33,750
41,700
41,700
230,390

314,048

535,040

(158,805)

(158,610)

155,243

376,430

Repayable as follows:
Within one year
Between one to two years
Between two to three years
Between three to four years
Between four to five years
Over five years

Less: Amount due within one year
included under current liabilities
Amount due after one year
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34. BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)
The secured bank borrowings were secured by the Group’s investment properties, prepaid lease payments,
bank deposits and properties held for sale. The carrying amount of the assets pledged are disclosed in
note 42.
At 31st March, 2006, the average variable interest rate ranged from 4.680% to 4.875% per annum (2005:
ranged from 0.964% to 2.346% per annum) for bank loans.
The Group’s bank borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong Dollars.
The carrying amount of the Group’s bank borrowings at the balance sheet dates approximated to the fair
values.

35. SHARE CAPITAL
Notes

Number
of shares

Amount
HK$’000

Ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each
Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
at 1st April, 2004
Shares consolidation

(i)

Ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each
at 31st March, 2005 and 31st March, 2006
Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
at 1st April, 2004
Shares consolidation
Ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each
Exercise of share options

(i)

(ii)

Ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each
at 31st March, 2005
Issue of new shares
Exercise of share options
Ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each
at 31st March, 2006

(iii)
(iv)

18,000,000,000
(13,500,000,000)

180,000
—

4,500,000,000

180,000

1,533,791,800
(1,150,343,850)

15,338
—

383,447,950
1,092,500

15,338
44

384,540,450

15,382

195,000,000
5,235,000

7,800
209

584,775,450

23,391
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35. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
Notes:
(i)

During the year ended 31st March, 2005, the Company carried out a share consolidation whereby every four
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the issued and unissued share capital of the Company were consolidated
into one ordinary share of HK$0.04 each. 1,533,791,800 issued ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each and
16,466,208,200 unissued ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were consolidated into 383,447,950 issued ordinary
shares of HK$0.04 each and 4,116,552,050 unissued ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each, respectively.

(ii)

During the year ended 31st March, 2005, 1,092,500 ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.04 each were
issued upon the exercise of 1,092,500 share options at an exercise price of HK$0.672 per share. The shares
issued during the year rank pari passu with the then existing shares in all respect.

(iii)

Pursuant to a resolution passed at a special general meeting held on 6th May, 2005 the Company completed
the subscription agreements with independent third parties in which the independent third parties subscribed
an aggregate of 75,000,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each at the subscription price of HK$1.08 per
share. Pursuant to the resolution passed on the same special general meeting, the Company completed the
placing agreement with a placing agent in which the placing agent procured subscribers to subscribe
25,000,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each at the subscription price of HK$1.08 per share. All the
ordinary shares issued rank pari passu with the then existing ordinary shares in all respects.
On 3rd March, 2006, 50,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each held by Earnest Equity Limited (“Earnest
Equity”), one of the Company’s substantial shareholders, were placed to the independent third parties at
HK$1.10 per share. On the same date, 50,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each of the Company were
issued and allotted to Earnest Equity for cash at HK$1.10 per share to raise additional working capital. All the
ordinary shares issued during the year rank pari passu with the then existing ordinary shares in all respects.
On 22nd March, 2006, 45,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each held by Earnest Equity were placed to the
independent third parties at HK$1.31 per share. On the same date, 45,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.04
each of the Company were issued and allotted to Earnest Equity for cash at HK$1.31 per share to raise
additional working capital. All the ordinary shares issued during the year rank pari passu with the then existing
ordinary shares in all respects.

(iv)

During the year ended 31st March, 2006, 5,235,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each of the Company were
issued upon the exercise of 5,235,000 share options at an exercise price of HK$0.672 per share. The shares
issued during the year rank pari passu with the then existing shares in all respect.
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME
2001 Scheme
On 13th June, 2001, the Company adopted a new share option scheme (“2001 Scheme”), for the primary
purpose of providing incentives to directors and eligible employees. The 2001 Scheme will expire on
12th June, 2011. Under the 2001 Scheme, the board of directors of the Company may grant options to
eligible employees, including executive directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for
shares in the Company.
The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the 2001 Scheme is not
permitted to exceed the higher of 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time
excluding any shares issued pursuant to the 2001 Scheme or such other limit as may be permitted under
Listing Rules. The number of shares in respect of which options may be granted to any individual is not
permitted to exceed the higher of 25% of the number of shares issued and issuable under the 2001
Scheme or any other limit as may be permitted under the Listing Rules.
Options granted must be taken up within 60 days of the date of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per grant.
Options may be exercised at any time from the date of grant to the 10th anniversary of the date of grant.
In each grant of options, the board of directors may at their discretion determine the specific exercise
period. The exercise price is determined by the directors of the Company, and will not be less than the
higher of the 80% of average closing price of the Company’s shares for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant, and the nominal value of the Company’s shares.
The 2001 Scheme was terminated on 26th August, 2002.

2002 Scheme
On 26th August, 2002, the Company adopted a new share option scheme (“2002 Scheme”), for the
primary purpose of providing incentives to directors and eligible employees. The 2002 Scheme will
expire on 25th August, 2012. Under the 2002 Scheme, the board of directors of the Company may grant
options to eligible employees, including executive directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, to
subscribe for shares in the Company.
The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
2002 Scheme (excluding those options that have already been granted by the Company prior to date of
approval of the 2002 Scheme) must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue at the adoption
date unless the Company obtains a fresh approval from its shareholders.
Options granted must be taken up within 60 days of the date of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per grant.
Options may be exercised at any time from the date of grant to the 10th anniversary of the date of grant.
In each grant of options, the board of directors may at their discretion determine the specific exercise
period. The exercise price is determined by the directors of the Company, and will not be less than the
higher (i) the closing price, (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s shares for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant, and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
2002 Scheme (Continued)
At 31st March, 2006, the number of shares in respect of which options had been granted and remained
outstanding under the 2001 Scheme and 2002 Scheme were 19,075,000 and 32,750,000, representing
3.26% and 5.60% of the issued share capital of the Company at that date respectively.
The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share options during the year ended 31st
March, 2006:

Option
scheme
type

Date
of grant

Exercise
price
HK$

Exercisable
period

2001 (Note 1)

30.8.2001

0.672

2002 (Note 2)

23.9.2002

0.560

30.8.2001 —
12.6.2011
23.9.2002 —
25.8.2012

2001 (Note 1)

30.8.2001

0.672

2002 (Note 2)

23.9.2002

0.560

Number of
options
outstanding at
1.4.2005

Reclassification
(Note 4)

Exercised
during
the year

Lapsed
during
the year

Number of
options
outstanding at
31.3.2006

Directors
Ma Wai Man, Catherine

7,875,000

—

(800,000)

—

7,075,000

3,125,000

—

—

—

3,125,000

—

1,137,500

(300,000)

—

837,500

—

3,125,000

—

—

3,125,000

11,000,000

4,262,500

(1,100,000)

—

14,162,500

17,057,500

(1,137,500)

(4,135,000)

(622,500)

11,162,500

18,375,000

(3,125,000)

—

—

15,250,000

7,500,000

—

—

—

7,500,000

3,750,000

—

—

—

3,750,000

Total for employees and
consultants

46,682,500

(4,262,500)

(4,135,000)

(622,500)

37,662,500

Grand total

57,682,500

—

(5,235,000)

(622,500)

51,825,000

Chow Hou Man

30.8.2001 —
12.6.2011
23.9.2002 —
25.8.2012

Total for directors
Employees and consultants
2001 (Note 1)

30.8.2001

0.672

2002 (Note 2)

23.9.2002

0.560

2002

8.1.2004

0.560

2002

9.1.2004

0.600

Exercisable at the end of the year
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30.8.2001 —
12.6.2011
23.9.2002 —
25.8.2012
8.1.2004 —
25.8.2012
9.1.2004 —
25.8.2012

51,825,000
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
2002 Scheme (Continued)
The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share option during the year ended 31st
March, 2005:

Option
scheme
type

Date
of grant

2001 (Note 1)

30.8.2001

Exercise
price
HK$

Exercisable
period

0.168

30.8.2001 12.6.2011
30.8.2001 12.6.2011
23.9.2002 25.8.2012
23.9.2002 25.8.2012

Number
of shares
under Adjustment
option at due to share
1.4.2004 consolidation
(Note 3)

Surrendered/
Exercised
lapsed
during
during
the year
the year

Number
of shares
under
option at
31.3.2005

Directors
Ma Wai Man, Catherine

0.672
2002 (Note 2)

23.9.2002

0.140
0.560

Total for director

31,500,000

(31,500,000 )

—

—

—

7,875,000

—

—

7,875,000

(12,500,000 )

—

—

—

3,125,000

—

—

3,125,000

44,000,000

(33,000,000 )

—

—

11,000,000

73,125,000

(73,125,000 )

—

—

—

—
12,500,000
—

Employees and consultants
2001 (Note 1)

30.8.2001

0.168
0.672

2002 (Note 2)

23.9.2002

0.140
0.560

2002

8.1.2004

0.140
0.560

2002

9.1.2004

0.150
0.600

30.8.2001 12.6.2011
30.8.2001 12.6.2011
23.9.2002 25.8.2012
23.9.2002 25.8.2012
8.1.2004 25.8.2012
8.1.2004 25.8.2012
9.1.2004 25.8.2012
9.1.2004 25.8.2012

—
73,500,000
—
30,000,000
—
15,000,000
—

18,281,250

(1,092,500 )

(131,250 )

17,057,500

(73,500,000 )

—

—

—

18,375,000

—

—

18,375,000

(30,000,000 )

—

—

—

7,500,000

—

—

7,500,000

(15,000,000 )

—

—

—

3,750,000

—

—

3,750,000

Total for employees
and consultants

191,625,000

(143,718,750 )

(1,092,500 )

(131,250 )

46,682,500

Grand total

235,625,000

(176,718,750 )

(1,092,500 )

(131,250 )

57,682,500

Exercisable at the end of the year

57,682,500

The weighted average share prices of the Company’s shares at dates of exercise by the employees were
HK$1.26, HK$1.18 and HK$1.52 per share respectively.
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
2002 Scheme (Continued)
Notes:
1.

There is a limit on the number of share options under the 2001 Scheme that may be exercised by each
grantee during each period of 12 months commencing from 30th August, 2001 (until 29th August, 2006),
namely, the aggregate of (a) 20% of the total number of such share options granted and (b) any unused limits
accumulated during previous period(s), subject to the written consent of the chairman of the Company to the
exercise of share options exceeding such limit.

2.

There is a limit on the number of share options under the 2002 Scheme that may be exercised by each
grantee during each period of 12 months commencing from 23rd September, 2002 (until 22nd September,
2006), namely, the aggregate of (a) 20% of the total number of such share options granted and (b) any unused
limits accumulated during previous period(s), subject to the written consent of the executive chairman of the
Company to the exercise of share options exceeding such limit.

3.

Following the share consolidation carried out by the Company during the year ended 31st March, 2005, the
exercise prices of the share options were adjusted from their initial exercise prices per share of HK$0.140,
HK$0.150 and HK$0.168 to adjusted exercise prices per share of HK$0.560, HK$0.60 and HK$0.672
respectively.

4.

Mr. Chow Hou Man was appointed as director of the Company on 29th June, 2005 and his holding of share
options was reclassified under the category of directors upon the appointment.
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37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
On 28th March, 2006, the Group disposed of its subsidiaries, namely Rapid Growth Profits Limited,
Metrorich Worldwide Limited and Island Town Limited, which are engaged in sale and leasing of property.
The net assets of disposed subsidiaries at the date of disposal were as follows:
2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

Net assets disposed of:
Investment properties
Amount due from an associate
Trade and other receivables
Property held for sale
Bank balances and cash
Trade and other payables
Taxation payable
Bank loans and overdraft
Deferred tax liabilities

—
—
139
97,010
2
(694)
(399)
(93,000)
—

44,650
73,920
4
—
80
(264)
—
(12,840)
(2,367)

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

3,058
35,990

103,183
36,070

39,048

139,253

39,048

139,253

39,048
(2)
—

139,253
(80)
12,840

39,046

152,013

Satisfied by:
Cash
Net cash arising on disposal inflow:
Cash consideration received
Bank balances and cash disposed of
Bank overdraft disposed of

The subsidiaries disposed of during the year contributed approximately HK$6,826,000 (2005: HK$122,000)
to the Group’s turnover and contributed approximately HK$3,332,000 (2005: HK$11,000) to the Group’s
profit before taxation for the period between 1st April, 2005 and the date of disposal.
The subsidiary disposed of during the year used approximately HK$130,000 (2005: HK$61,537,000) in
the Group’s net operating cash flows and paid HK$1,364,000 (2005: generated HK$63,000,000) in respect
of financing activities.
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38. PURCHASE OF SUBSIDIARIES
On 4th April, 2005, the Group acquired a piece of land located in Hong Kong through acquisition of
100% interests in Yieldson Development Limited and Fook Shing Limited for an aggregate consideration
of approximately HK$240,000,000. The acquisition has been recorded as purchase of assets.
On 31st March, 2005, the Group acquired 100% interest in Newslink Holdings Limited for consideration
of HK$16,000,000. Newslink Holdings Limited is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries are
engaged in property holding. The directors are of the view that it is impracticable to disclose the revenue
and the result of Newslink Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31st March, 2005 as
if the acquisition had been effected at the beginning of the year since such financial information was not
provided by the vendor.
Details of the assets acquired are as follows:
2005
HK$’000
Net assets acquired:
Prepaid lease payments
Other receivables
Bank balances and cash
Other payables

16,000
66
3
(147)

Goodwill arising on acquisition

15,922
78
16,000

Satisfied by:
Cash
Deposit paid for acquisition of subsidiaries
Unlisted debt securities

—
—
16,000
16,000

Analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in
connection with the purchase of subsidiaries:
Cash consideration paid
Bank balances and cash acquired
Inflow of cash and cash equivalents in
connection with the purchase of subsidiaries

76

Capital Strategic Investment Limited

—
3

3

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March, 2006

39. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
During the year ended 31st March, 2006, the major non-cash transactions are as follows:
(a)

Acquisition of subsidiaries was partially satisfied by the deposits of HK$35,000,000 paid for
acquisition of subsidiaries in the previous year.

During the year ended 31st March, 2005, the major non-cash transactions are as follows:
(a)

Addition of property, plant and equipment was partially satisfied by the deposits of HK$2,596,000
paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment in the prior year.

(b)

The consideration for the purchase of a subsidiary was satisfied by the unlisted debt securities
with carrying value of HK$16,000,000.

40. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
The Group has made approximately HK$1,446,000 (2005: HK$767,000) minimum lease payments under
operating leases during the year in respect of office premises.

The Group as lessee
At the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments under noncancellable operating leases in respect of land and buildings which fall due as follows:

Within one year
In the second to fifth years inclusive

2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

1,631
745

1,491
2,372

2,376

3,863

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for its office premise. Leases are
negotiated for a term of three years and rentals are fixed for three years.
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40. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS (Continued)
The Group as lessor
Property rental income earned during the year was HK$34,314,000 (2005: HK$32,605,000). These
properties are expected to generate rental yield of 5.21% (2005: 3.99%) on an ongoing basis, which
calculated based on the valuation amount of the investment properties. Certain of the properties have
committed tenants for next two to three years.
At the balance sheet date, the Group had contracted with tenants for the following future minimum
lease payments:

Within one year
In the second to fifth years inclusive

2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

25,629
26,136

26,045
30,550

51,765

56,595

2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

36,176

—

41. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Corporate guarantee given by the Group for banking facilities
granted to an associate

42. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
At 31st March, 2006, the following assets were pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group:
(a)

Investment properties with a carrying value of HK$622,000,000 (2005: HK$818,000,000).

(b)

Property, plant and equipment with a carrying value of approximately HK$1,760,000 (2005: Nil).

(c)

Prepaid lease payments with a carrying value of approximately HK$239,726,000 (2005: Nil).

(d)

Properties held for sale with carrying value of approximately HK$92,890,000 (2005:
HK$227,009,000).

(e)

Bank deposits of HK$165,366,000 (2005: HK$5,230,000).

The Group also executed assignments of rental income and sales proceeds on disposal of investment
properties and properties held for sale to banks to secure the banking facilities granted to the Group.
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43. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition of property,
plant and equipment contracted for but not provided in
the financial statements
Capital expenditure in respect of acquisition of subsidiary
contracted for but not provided in the financial statements

2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

1,527

—

—

205,000

1,527

205,000

44. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME
With effect from 1st December, 2000, the Group has joined a mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF
Scheme”). The MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in funds under the control of an independent trustee. Under the rules of the
MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make contributions to the scheme at
rates specified in the rules. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to make
the required contributions under the scheme. No forfeited contributions are available to reduce the
contributions payables in the future years.
The retirement benefit scheme contributions relating to the MPF Scheme charged to the income statement
of HK$309,000 (2005: HK$409,000) represent contributions payable to the scheme by the Group at rates
specified in the rules of the schemes.

45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a)

During the year, the Group entered into the following significant transactions with related parties:
Name of Company

Nature of transactions

Cycle Company Limited
and Gunnell Properties
Limited

Management fee
received and
receivable by
the Group
Rental income
received and
receivable by
the Group

Top Mount Limited

Notes

2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

(i)

201

—

(ii)

24

16
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45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
Notes:
(i)

Cycle Company Limited and Gunnell Properties Limited are wholly-owned subsidiaries of the jointlycontrolled entities.

(ii)

Top Mount Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Capital Estate Limited, a former associate of the
Group.

(b)

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as
follows:

Short-term benefits
Post-employment benefits

2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

6,720
196

3,915
176

6,916

4,091

The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined by the remuneration committee
having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.
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46. BALANCE SHEET OF THE COMPANY
The balance sheet of the Company as at 31st March, 2006 is as follows:

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Interests in subsidiaries
Club debentures
Deferred tax assets

Current Assets
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments
Taxation recoverable
Bank balances and cash

Current Liabilities
Amounts due to subsidiaries
Other payables and accrued charges

Net Current Assets

Capital and Reserves
Share capital
Reserves (Note)

2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

42
82,152
5,200
246

104
82,152
5,200
759

87,640

88,215

689,181
—
—
2,454

424,224
355
26
3,073

691,635

427,678

113,314
221

54,869
306

113,535

55,175

578,100

372,503

665,740

460,718

23,391
642,349

15,382
445,336

665,740

460,718
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46. BALANCE SHEET OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Note:
Reserves
Share

Accumulated

premium

surplus

profits

Total

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

23,225

338,410

101,108

462,743

690

—

—

—

—

At 31st March, 2005

23,915

338,410

83,011

445,336

Issue of new shares

214,150

—

—

214,150

—

(3,423)
3,308

At 1st April, 2004
Exercise of share options
Loss for the year

Expenses related to issue of shares

(3,423)

—

Exercise of share options

(18,097)

690
(18,097)

3,308

—

—

Loss for the year

—

—

(63)

(63)

Dividend paid

—

—

(16,959)

(16,959)

237,950

338,410

65,989

642,349

At 31st March, 2006
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47. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
(1)

On 6th March, 2006, Infast Limited , a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a
binding provisional agreement with an independent third party for the disposal of the investment
property of a carrying value of approximately HK$42,000,000 at an aggregate consideration of
HK$42,300,000. The transaction was completed on 10th May, 2006.

(2)

On 13th April, 2006, Fook Shing Limited and Yieldson Development Limited, wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company entered into a binding provisional agreement with an independent
third party for the disposal of prepaid lease payments of a carrying value of approximately
HK$239,726,000 at an aggregate consideration of HK$337,000,000. The transaction was completed
on 30th June, 2006.

(3)

On 17th May, 2006, the Company entered into placing agreements with a placing agent in which
the placing agent agreed to procure subscribers to subscribe 211,500,000 new ordinary shares of
HK$0.04 each at the subscription price of HK$1.59 per share on a best-efforts basis. On the same
day, the Company entered into a placing agreement with Earnest Equity, one of the Company’s
substantial shareholder in relation to the placing of up to 102,000,000 new ordinary shares at a
price of HK$1.59 per share.
On the same day, the Company entered into subscription agreements with Earnest Equity and
other independent third parties in which Earnest Equity and the independent third parties agreed
to subscribe for convertible notes in an aggregate principal amount of HK$133,000,000. The
convertible notes bear interest at 1.5% per annum and due for redemption 5 years after the date
of issue. The holders of the convertible notes are entitled at any time during the period from the
date of issue to 12th June, 2016 to convert the convertible notes into shares of the Company at
an initial conversion price of HK$1.86 per share, subject to adjustment.
On the same day, the Group also entered into a sales and purchase agreement with Aqua Sole
Company Limited (“Aqua Sole”), a company wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Chung Cho
Yee, Mico, a non-executive director and a substantial shareholder of the Company. Pursuant to
the sales and purchase agreement, the Group agreed to acquire the entire equity interest in Sky
Dragon Limited (“Sky Dragon”) and the shareholders’ loan owned to Aqua Sole at an aggregate
consideration of HK$69,000,000. Sky Dragon is engaged in property investment in Hong Kong
and its major asset is a property located in Hong Kong.
As there is no audited financial information of Sky Dragon acquired by the Group subsequent to
the balance sheet date at the date of acquisition, in the opinion of directors of the Company, it
was impracticable to quantify the amounts recognised at the date of acquisition for each class of
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of this company.

(4)

On 29th May, 2006, the Company entered into the corporate guarantee agreement with a bank
pursuant to which the Company agreed to guarantee the due performance of the repayment
obligation of a bank loan of HK$71,800,000 of Great Fidelity Limited, a company owned as to
25% by the Group, to finance the acquisition consideration and the construction costs of a
redevelopment site.
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48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31st March, 2006 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place of
incorporation/
operation

Issued and
fully paid
ordinary
share capital

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share capital
held by the Company
Directly
Indirectly
%
%

Principal activities

Bless Top Holdings
Ltd.

British Virgin Islands

US$1

100

—

Investment holding

Gain Master Assets
Limited

British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong

US$1

—

100

Investment holding

Fook Shing Limited

Hong Kong

HK$10,000

—

100

Holding of property held
for development

Infast Limited

Hong Kong

HK$2

—

100

Property holding

Yieldson Development
Limited

Hong Kong

HK$10,000

—

100

Holding of property held
for development

Mark Well Investment
Limited

Hong Kong

HK$100

100

—

Sale of securities and
investment holding

Capital Strategic
Investment (B.V.I.)
Limited

British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong

US$40,000

100

—

Investment holding

Ocean Information
System (China) Limited

Hong Kong

HK$2

—

100

Investment holding

CSI Investment Limited

Hong Kong

HK$2

—

100

Property holding and
leasing of property

Sennor Holdings Limited

Hong Kong

HK$2

—

100

Property holding and
leasing of property

Gaintech International
Development Limited

Hong Kong

HK$10,000

—

100

Holding of property held
for development

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
Summary of the consolidated results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for each of the five years
ended 31st March, 2006 is set out below:

(a)

Results
Year ended 31st March,

Turnover
Profit before taxation
Taxation

(b)

2002
HK$’000
(Note 1)

2003
HK$’000
(Note 1)

2004
HK$’000
(restated)
(Note 2)

2005
HK$’000
(restated)
(Note 2)

2006
HK$’000

297,937

672,194

415,286

373,332

371,638

13,738

10,332

250,562

212,740

159,485

(3,131)

(42,911)

(31,582)

(18,146)

(376)

Profit for the year

13,362

7,201

207,651

181,158

141,339

Attributable to:
Equity holders of
the parent
Minority interests

13,920
(558)

7,176
25

207,246
405

181,521
(363)

140,283
1,056

13,362

7,201

207,651

181,158

141,339

Assets and liabilities
At 31st March,

Total assets
Total liabilities

Equity attributable to
equity holders of
the parent
Minority interests

2002
HK$’000
(Note 1)

2003
HK$’000
(Note 1)

2004
HK$’000
(restated)
(Note 2)

2005
HK$’000
(restated)
(Note 2)

2006
HK$’000

462,742
27,534

494,108
25,999

905,649
230,294

1,514,416
656,806

1,621,026
408,882

435,208

468,109

675,355

857,610

1,212,144

435,104
104

467,980
129

675,355
—

857,610
—

1,211,088
1,056

435,208

468,109

675,355

857,610

1,212,144

Notes:
1.

The amounts have not been restated for the effect of new Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards which
are effective on or after 1st January, 2005 issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”).

2.

The amounts have been restated upon the adoption of a number of new Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations which are effective on or after 1st January,
2005 issued by the HKICPA.
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SCHEDULE OF PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP
As at 31st March, 2006

MAJOR PROPERTIES
Particulars of major properties held by the Group at 31st March, 2006 as follows:
Approx.
Location

House No. 9 including

Use

Group’s

Approx.

gross

interest

site area

floor area

(sq.ft.)

(sq.ft.)

Residential

100%

N/A

3,047

Commercial

100%

6,243

95,638

Commercial

80%

N/A

10,800

Commercial

100%

N/A

1,632

Commercial

100%

4,000

N/A

Status of development

Vacant

the covered yard, the yard
and the lawn thereof, the Beachfront,
No. 7 Belleview Drive,
Repulse Bay, Hong Kong
No. 88 Gloucester Road & 17 Carparks
in Fortis Bank Tower,
No. 77 Gloucester Road,
Hong Kong

9/F, Far East Finance Centre,
No. 16, Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong
Unit 2101, 21/F,
China Merchants Tower
No. 168 – 200
Connaught Road Central,
Hong Kong
No. 31, 34, 36, 38 and 40
Yiu Wa Street, Causauary
Bay, Hong Kong
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Completely leased out

